
City Clerk’s Office 
407 Birch Ave SW, P. O. Box 810 Napavine, WA 98565 

Phone: (360) 262-3547 Fax: (360) 262-9199 
 
  

The City of Napavine is an equal opportunity employer and provider. 
Incorporated November 21, 1913 

 

 
 
 

 

 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

 
Notice is hereby given that the City of Napavine City Council, jointly with the 
Planning Commission, will hold a Public Hearing regarding a proposed 
Housing Action Plan at its regularly scheduled meeting. 
 
WHEN: Tuesday, May 23, 2023 
TIME:  6:00 pm 

WHERE:  Napavine City Hall, 407 Birch Ave. SW, Napavine, WA 98565 

 
Public comment will be received by the City Council and Planning 
Commission on the proposed Housing Action Plan. Comments may be made 
in writing to the City Clerk, Rachelle Denham at P.O. Box 810, Napavine, WA 
98565, or by email rdenham@cityofnapavine.com . Comments must be 
received by May 22, 2023, at 4:30 pm or by appearing before the City 
Council at said meeting. A copy of the proposed Housing Action Plan can be 
provided by request at the city.   

 
 

mailto:rdenham@cityofnapavine.com


 

DR AFT 
April 2023  



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

i 

 

 

AC K N O WLE DGE ME N TS 

Advisory Committee 
• Amy Hollinger, Planning Commissioner  
• Scott Collins, Bethel Church Pastor 
• Ruth Gutierrez, Housing Advocate 
• Shane Schutz, School Superintendent   
• Mike Kroll, Lewis County Planner 
• Todd Chaput, Lewis County Alliance 
• Greg Lund, Realtor 
• Paula Sandirk, Resident 

 

City of Napavine Staff  
• Bryan Morris, Public Works/ Community Development Director 
• Katie Williams, Executive Assistant 
• Rachelle Denham, City Clerk 

 

Consultant Team 
• Jackson Civil Engineering, LLC 
• BHC Consultants, LLC 

  



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

ii 

C O N TE N TS 

1. Plan Overview ............................................................................................................................ 1 
Purpose ........................................................................................................................................................ 1 
City of Napavine Context ........................................................................................................................ 2 
Demographics and Housing Overview .................................................................................................... 2 
Overview of Planning and Engagement Process .................................................................................... 3 
Key Issues Identified During Public Engagement .................................................................................. 5 
Key Issues Identified in the Housing Needs Assessment ...................................................................... 6 
Key Issues from the Policy Framework Review ..................................................................................... 8 

2. Housing Strategies and Actions............................................................................................. 10 
Strategy 1. Update development regulations to increase housing supply and diversity. ................... 11 
Strategy 2. Update the Comprehensive Plan’s goals and policies to better reflect local and 
regional housing needs. ............................................................................................................................. 17 
Strategy 3. Establish fee structures and incentives that support affordable housing and increase 
housing supply and diversity. ................................................................................................................... 21 
Strategy 4. Preserve existing homes affordable to Napavine residents and reduce displacement. 24 
Strategy 5. Partner with regional organizations to design and implement housing programs to 
reduce cost burdens for Napavine. ....................................................................................................... 28 
Evaluation of Strategies and Actions .................................................................................................... 30 

3. Implementation and Monitoring ........................................................................................... 36 
 
Appendix A – Housing Needs Assessment 
Appendix B – Summary of Community Engagement  
Appendix C – Housing Policy Framework Review 
 
 

E XH IBITS 

Exhibit 1  Projected Housing Unit Demand ................................................................................................ 7 
Exhibit 2  Household Sizes Compared to Housing Unit Size .................................................................... 8 
Exhibit 3  Cost Burdened Households ........................................................................................................ 21 
Exhibit 4  Vicinity Map ................................................................................................................................ 28 
Exhibit 5  Evaluation of Strategies and Actions ......................................................................................... 31 
Exhibit 6  Implementation and Monitoring Plan Matrix .......................................................................... 36 
  



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

iii 

GLO SSAR Y AN D DE FIN ITIO N S 

ACS American Community Survey 

ADU Accessory Dwelling Unit 

Affordable Housing A home is generally considered affordable if the household is paying 
no more than 30% of their income on housing costs. 

AMI 

CLT 

Area Median Income  

Community Land Trust 

Displacement Displacement occurs when housing or neighborhood conditions force 
residents to move. 

HAP Housing Action Plan 

HNA Housing Needs Assessment 

HUD U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 

HUD CHAS HUD Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy 

Middle Housing Middle Housing, also referred to as Missing Middle Housing, means 
homes that fall between single-family houses and higher-density 
apartments. Examples include duplexes, triplexes, fourplexes, 
townhouses, and cottage court homes. 

NMC Napavine Municipal Code 

UGA Urban Growth Area 
  

 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

1 

1. Plan Overview  

Purpose                               
The City of Napavine received a grant from the Washington State Department of Commerce to 
develop a Housing Action Plan (HAP). The overall goals for this plan are to: encourage construction 
of affordable and market rate housing; broaden the variety of housing types available; ensure housing 
is available at prices accessible to a broad spectrum of incomes; and to include strategies that target 
the for-profit single-family home market. The Commerce grant requires the HAP to include the 
following, per RCW 36.70A.600(2): 

• Housing Needs Assessment. Assess existing and projected housing needs for all income 
levels, including extremely low-income households, with documentation of housing and 
household characteristics, and cost-burdened households. Analyze population and 
employment trends, with documentation of projections. (See Appendix A.) 
 

• Inclusive Public Outreach. Provide an opportunity for participation and input from 
community members, community groups, local builders, local realtors, nonprofit housing 
advocates, and local religious groups. (See Appendix B.) 
 

• Housing Policy Framework. Review and evaluate the current housing element adopted 
pursuant to RCW 36.70A.070, including an evaluation of success in attaining planned 
housing types and units, achievement of goals and policies, and implementation of the 
schedule of programs and actions. (See Appendix C.) 
 

• Housing Action Plan. Develop strategies to increase the supply of housing and variety of 
housing types needed to serve the housing needs identified in the Housing Needs 
Assessment. Consider strategies to minimize displacement of low-income residents resulting 
from redevelopment. Include a schedule of programs and actions to implement the 
recommendations of the Housing Action Plan. 
 

  

http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=36.70A.600


City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

2 

City of Napavine Context 
Napavine is located in Lewis County, six miles south of Chehalis on the northern edge of the 
Napavine, Jackson, and Grand Prairies. The town sits along the I-5 corridor and is half-way between 
the cities of Tacoma, Washington and Portland, Oregon.  
 
Napavine began as a logging and sawmill town. The first sawmill was financed by the Northern Pacific 
Railroad for railroad tie production. The rails were laid in 1873. In its early years, Napavine grew to 
include six sawmills, a shingle mill, two column factories, a general repair shop, two shoe shops, and a 
blacksmith. In addition to manufacturing, the City included four general stores, two meat markets, 
two saloons, a drugstore, a doctor, two hotels, one livery and feed barn, a real estate office and a 
carpenter. The City of Napavine was incorporated in 1913 and an old, remodeled church became its 
first town hall. In the mid-20th century after World War II, plans for the town’s first water system 
were initiated. A 100-foot well was drilled in 1955 to serve local businesses, the elementary and high 
schools and the 80 homes in town. In 1967 the 150-foot water tower was built. 
 
Today, Napavine has a population of just over 2,000 people with a variety of businesses, land uses, 
and residences.   

Demographics and Housing Overview  
The Housing Needs Assessment examined current demographic and socioeconomic characteristics 
of the city. The following are key statistics that inform housing strategies and actions: 

• Napavine’s population was estimated at 1,571 in 2020 by the American Community Survey 
(ACS). 
 

• Median income in 2020 was $61,713, according to the ACS. 
 

• According to Zillow Home Value Index data, the average home price in Napavine is 
$261,228. The income needed to afford an average-priced home is $71,247. The income 
needed to afford a bottom tier-priced home is $62,583.    
 

• About half Napavine households included at least one person under the age of 18. About 
30% of households had at least one member over the age of 60.   
 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

3 

• 90% of Napavine residents identified as “white alone” in the 2020 ACS; 7% identified as 
two or more races.  
 

• Renter households increased 12% from 2010 to 2020, while owner households decreased 
11%. This indicates increased demand for rental housing stock, potentially a result of higher 
costs.  

Overview of Planning and Engagement Process 
The development of this Housing Action Plan was supported with two main sources of information: 

• Public engagement that involved connecting with and listening to a range of stakeholders, 
including residents, workers, businesses, non-profit organizations, service providers, and 
other important members of the community. Their participation in this process provides both 
qualitative and anecdotal input.  
 

• Quantitative input through a survey, which informed the recommendations outlined in the 
HAP. 

 
Outreach was implemented to gather from the Napavine community valuable insights into the City's 
housing opportunities and challenges. The community's feedback played a significant role in shaping 
the direction of the HAP's strategies and recommendations.  
 
Between September and October of 2022, an online public survey was conducted, with a total of 12 
respondents completing the survey. The survey response was representative of the Napavine 
community, with its demographics closely aligning to the makeup of the city. Key findings from the 
survey are provided below, while additional information about the survey can be found in Appendix B. 
 

• A total of 12 respondents completed the survey. The respondents were well-represented 
across different age groups, with 8% for age 18-24, 17% for age 25-34, and 25% for age 45-
54, 65-75, and 75 or older.  

 
• On the question "I believe rent/mortgages are reasonably priced in Napavine," all 

respondents answered, with 67% indicating no opinion/do not know. Of those who answered, 
25% strongly disagreed or disagreed, and 8% agreed.   

 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

4 

• On the question "I believe my home is the right size for my household," all respondents 
answered, with 83% indicating agreement and 17% disagreeing. 

 
• On the question "What type of housing do you currently live in?", all respondents indicated 

the type of housing they currently live in, with single-family homes accounting for 92% of 
responses, and the other housing type accounting for 8%. 

 
• On the question "Do you rent or own your home?", all respondents answered, with 83% 

indicating ownership and 17% indicating renting. 
 

• On the question "What type of housing would you most like to live in?", all respondents 
indicated the type of housing they would most like to live in, with single-family homes 
accounting for 83% of responses, and the other housing type accounting for 17%. 

 
• On the question "I think local and/or state government should have a greater role in 

providing affordable housing for the community," 50% of the respondents agreed, while 25% 
disagreed, and 25% had no opinion/do not know.  

 
• On the question "I think Napavine needs more," the respondents identified the following 

housing needs: 26% on housing for families with children, 15% on housing for seniors, rental 
housing for households making less than $49,400, and homeownership opportunities for 
households making less than $49,400. Other housing needs identified included 11% on 
rental housing for households making less than $18,600, 7% on housing for young adults and 
persons with disabilities, and 4% on housing for individuals experiencing homelessness.  

 
• On the question "I think Napavine should allow or build more," the respondents identified the 

following housing types that should be allowed or built: 38% on townhomes, 23% on 
duplexes, 15% on accessory dwelling units, and 8% on apartment buildings and triplexes or 
more.  
 

The survey found that respondents were well-represented across different age groups, with single-
family homes being the most common type of housing. Respondents generally agreed that their 
homes were the right size for their households, but they were uncertain about the affordability of 
rent/mortgages in Napavine. Respondents also identified a need for more affordable housing options, 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

5 

particularly for families with children and seniors, as well as rental housing for households making less 
than $49,400 and homeownership opportunities for households making less than $49,400. 
 
In terms of housing types that should be allowed or built, respondents identified townhomes and 
duplexes as the most desirable options, along with accessory dwelling units and apartment buildings 
or triplexes. Finally, respondents were divided on whether local and/or state government should have 
a greater role in providing affordable housing for the community, with 50% agreeing and 25% 
disagreeing. 

Key Issues Identified During Public Engagement 
A summary of the primary concerns raised during public engagement regarding housing reveals a 
particular emphasis on three issues: ADUs, senior housing, and the ability of children to remain in 
the community. 

1. Accessory dwelling units (ADUs). 

ADUs were identified as a key issue during public engagement related to housing. Many community 
members expressed a desire to build ADUs on their properties to provide additional housing for 
family members. However, there were concerns related to zoning regulations, building codes, and 
affordability of construction. The community expressed a desire for more information and regulation 
related to the construction of ADUs. 

2. Senior housing 

The community expressed a desire for more affordable and accessible housing options for seniors. 
There were concerns related to the cost of assisted living facilities and a desire for more affordable 
options. 

3. Children being able to stay in the community. 

Many community members expressed concerns about the lack of affordable housing options for 
families with children. This was seen as a barrier to retaining young families in the community and was 
identified as a priority issue to be addressed in the Housing Action Plan. 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

6 

Key Issues Identified in the Housing Needs Assessment 
Through the Housing Needs Assessment, Policy Framework Review, and Public Engagement, the 
Plan identified the following key housing issues that housing strategies must address to meet current 
and future housing needs in Napavine. 

1. Napavine’s housing supply is not keeping up with demand.  

If Napavine continues to grow at the projected rate under the 2017-2035 Comprehensive Plan, the 
City will face an increasing housing shortage. This will result in rising costs of housing and potentially 
displace existing residents who can no longer afford the rising costs.  
  



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

7 

 

Exhibit 1  Projected Housing Unit Demand 

 
Historic trend scenario uses ACS estimates to project future demand. The intermediate scenario uses the 10-year 
average of building permits in Napavine. The high scenario uses the highest production rate of 29 units approved through 
building permits in 2021, and projects that year-on-year. Uses a 4.4% vacancy rate, consistent with 2020.  
Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates; City of Napavine Comprehensive Plan (2017); Census Building Permits Survey (2010-
2020).  
 

2. Nearly half of Napavine households, 45%, are cost burdened. This means they spend 
more than 30% of their income on housing costs.  

3. Only 15% of housing units are one- or two-bedroom units, despite half of Napavine’s 
population being one- and two-person households. This indicates a lack of housing 
types for smaller households.  

 

578 615 654
705

905

500

600

700

800

900

1000

1100

1200

2010 2020 2030

Ho
us

ing
 U

nit
s

Historic Trend of Housing Unit Supply Moderate Housing Unit Growth Scenario
High Housing Unit Growth Scenario

Housing Demand in 2030 = 1,165 units



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

8 

Exhibit 2  Household Sizes Compared to Housing Unit Size 

 

 
Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates (2020). 

4. If new housing in vacant, buildable lands is developed at current housing densities, the 
City will see a shortfall of 65 units to meet the projected 2030 housing unit demand. 

Key Issues from the Policy Framework Review 

1. Existing Comprehensive Plan Policies do not target Napavine’s current and future 
housing needs.  

The Comprehensive Plan policies do not target Napavine’s specific housing issues. While they do 
address housing, more policies are needed to encourage housing diversity and supply. For example, 
policies on Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) should be adopted. Furthermore, these policies, 
particularly those in the Housing Element, need to be changed to reflect compliance with the 
updated state law under HB 1220.  

15%

35%

19%

31%

1-person household 2-person household 3-person household 4+ person household

5%
10%

62%

24%

1-bedroom 2-bedroom 3-bedroom 4+ bedrooms



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

9 

2. Napavine’s development and zoning regulations are out-of-date and could be revised 
to increase predictability and flexibility, and to streamline housing growth.  

Napavine’s development regulations need to be revised to better provide clarity and predictability for 
housing development and to encourage a more diverse housing stock. For example, while ADUs—
referred to as “grannie flats”—are allowed, they are constrained by a code requirement that they 
must be half the size of the primary residence. Updating and modernizing the development 
regulations would provide housing developers and builders with greater clarity and straightforward 
expectations while streamlining permitting processes.  

3. Napavine’s does not currently have programs that address housing. 

Due to its setting and history of being a small city, Napavine does not have existing programs that 
other cities may have to address housing issues.  
 

 
  



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

10 

2. Housing Strategies and Actions 
Based on the findings through the Public Engagement, Housing Needs Assessment, and Policy 
Review, this chapter provides strategies and actions to meet future and expected housing need in 
Napavine. The strategies are:  

Strategy 1. Update development regulations to increase housing supply and diversity. 
Strategy 2. Update the Comprehensive Plan’s goals and policies to better reflect local and 
regional housing needs. 
Strategy 3. Establish fee structures and incentives that support affordable housing and 
increase housing supply and diversity. 
Strategy 4. Preserve existing homes affordable to Napavine residents and reduce 
displacement. 
Strategy 5. Partner with regional organizations to design and implement housing programs 
to reduce cost burdens for Napavine. 

The strategies provide the overarching target to meet the identified housing issues. The actions 
provide specific ways to implement the strategy along with policy options and decisions to better 
achieve success. These strategies and actions inform both updates to the Comprehensive Plan and 
programs and policies to meet these housing issues. 
 

 
Image Credit: Washington State Department of Commerce. “Guidance for Developing a Housing 
Action Plan.” Public Review Draft, June 2020.  



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

11 

Strategy 1. Update development regulations to increase housing supply and 
diversity. 

Why implement this strategy?  

The Housing Needs Assessment identified that Napavine’s housing supply is not keeping up with 
population growth. If Napavine achieves its projected population growth forecasted in the 2017-
2037 Comprehensive Plan, the city will fall short of meeting the projected demand of 1,165 units. 
The total existing housing supply estimated in the 2020 American Community Survey was 615 units. 
These strategies target methods to increase housing supply and diversity, while being mindful of 
existing housing stock and infrastructure limitations.  

Action 1.1. Make it easier to develop Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADUs) in R-2 Zone. 

Currently, Napavine’s code allows small accessory dwelling units (ADUs) or “granny flats” to be 
attached to a single-family home in the R-2 zoning district. This type of housing is limited to half the 
size of the primary home (NMC 17.20.020). Napavine stakeholders expressed interest in expanding 
the use of ADUs as a way to add needed housing at a small scale compatible with existing 
neighborhoods.  

The City should clearly describe the rules for ADUs in the zoning code. Currently, while the zoning 
code mentions only attached ADUs in NMC 17.20.020, detached ADUs are not mentioned at all. 
Also, the city does not provide clear guidance on the design of these units or any other requirements, 
such as location or parking. Providing clearer guidance would ensure predictability for both 
homeowners and builders seeking to construct these types of dwellings.  
 
Consider the following options: 

• Update description of ADUs to allow both attached and detached units, and increase the 
size allowed to up to 1,200 square feet, but not exceed a maximum of 50% of lot 
coverage. Under the existing code, only attached units half the size of the principal residence 
is allowed. A new standard could allow larger attached and detached units of up to 1,200 
square feet, and not exceed a maximum of 50% of lot coverage if the existing home is 
smaller than 1,200 sf. These updates provide increased flexibility for property owners and 
offer more options for larger families or multigenerational households.  



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

12 

• Create a pre-approved design program for ADUs. Having a list of pre-approved designs 
could reduce the time and cost burden of building ADUs. These would still be reviewed for 
zoning and building code compliance. 

• Allow conversion of an existing small home into an ADU, with construction of a new 
residence on the same lot. On large lots with remaining buildable area, existing small single-
family homes (less than 1,200 sf) would be considered the ADU, after a larger principal 
residence is built on the lot.  

o Establish ADU-specific, parking requirements. Currently, the code is silent on off-
street parking required for an ADU (NMC 17.64.010). A standard of one space per 
unit should be adopted for ADUs, rather than using the existing residential 
requirement of two spaces per dwelling.  

Pre-Approved ADU Plans Example. Some cities, like South Bend, Indiana, and Raleigh, North 
Carolina, provide a series of pre-approved plans for ADUs. The pre-approved plans let homeowners 
select from a series of designs and pay a fee for the plan. The plan is then fast tracked through the 
City’s permitting and approvals. This also makes it easier for local builders who may not have a lot of 
experience working on ADU designs to participate. Below is an example of a pre-approved ADU 
design for the City of Bend, Oregon. The design has already been reviewed and approved under the 
city’s adopted building codes, so permitting is faster and easier for homeowners.  
 

 
Image Source: City of Bend, OR, Pre-Approved ADU Design, 
https://www.bendoregon.gov/government/departments/community-development/online-permit-center/pre-approved-
accessory-dwelling-units.  

https://www.bendoregon.gov/government/departments/community-development/online-permit-center/pre-approved-accessory-dwelling-units
https://www.bendoregon.gov/government/departments/community-development/online-permit-center/pre-approved-accessory-dwelling-units


City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

13 

Action 1.2. Update development regulations to reduce barriers to middle housing, 
particularly duplexes. 

In the Public Engagement survey, respondents supported allowing more duplexes and townhouses. 
However, some existing code provisions create barriers to their development.  

The code options below would address these barriers and facilitate development of these housing 
types: 

• Allow duplexes on the same sized lot as detached single-family lots. Existing code requires 
a minimum lot size of 10,000 square feet for a duplex, whereas a single-family home can be 
built on a lot of 7,500 square feet. Allowing duplexes on 7,500 square foot lots would make 
duplex development possible on more lots throughout Napavine. 

• Allow multi-unit structures that fit the footprint of the allowed single-family home. 
Several smaller units can fit into the footprint allowed for a generously sized single-family 
home. With the right attention to neighborhood design impacts, a multi-unit building on a 
7,500 square foot lot served by water and sewer could blend into the surrounding lots while 
adding needed density.   

Middle Housing Examples. Middle Housing refers to housing types that fall between single-family 
homes and apartment buildings. Examples include duplexes, triplexes, fourplexes, townhomes, and 
cottage homes. Middle housing provides opportunities for households who seek units that are single 
family homes but may not be able to afford them. Having multiple units on a lot or in a home may 
not necessarily change a neighborhood’s feeling of scale and density. The following is an example of 
an existing triplex in Napavine. The structure has a similar design and height as some other detached 
single-family homes in the city but has three times the density.  
 

 
BHC Consultants, Napavine Triplex Example, 2022. 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

14 

Action 1.3. Streamline permit processes. 

The time required to prepare, review, and approve development applications can be resource 
intensive for both applicant and city reviewers. Updating procedures to reduce time needed from 
application to approval can expedite housing development and lead to cost savings in the final 
housing product.  
 
Consider the following approaches to streamline permit procedures: 

• Reorganize and create more tables for procedure codes. Currently, permit applications are 
reviewed either through a general process (NMC 17.88.100) or a special permit process 
(NMC 17.80). Some jurisdictions provide a table showing a list of the permits and which 
processes apply. Providing a table with cross-references to ensure permit processes are 
clearly presented could help improve applicants’ understanding of what is required based on 
the type of project.  

• Provide an expedited permit review process for projects developing missing middle 
housing types or housing that will be sold below market rate. Quick permitting can lead to 
savings for housing developers. However, expedited permitting depends on the availability of 
staff to process applications; an additional fee for consultant review services could be 
included with this option in return for a faster review timeline.   

  



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

15 

 

Action 1.4. Review the Planned Unit Development (PUD) code and procedures to target 
housing diversity and provide more affordable housing options. 

Generally, a PUD allows for a development to deviate from the certain zoning regulations, based on 
an adopted set of project-specific standards. For example, a developer may be required to provide 
additional open space or amenities in a PUD in exchange for additional residential units or density. A 
PUD can allow flexibility while also ensuring the development meets the needs and desires of the 
existing community. Updating the Napavine PUD standards could involve additional conversations 
with the development community stakeholders to ensure that PUDs are flexible, while providing 
community benefits and a variety of housing types.  

Steps to review and update the PUD standards could include: 

Visualizing Density. Adding more units does not necessarily mean larger buildings. Middle Housing 
types can often fit within the same building footprint as a traditional, single-family structure. The 
following example shows two residences, each with a building footprint of 1,600 square feet and 
height of 25 feet. 
 

 
    BHC Consultants, Visualizing Densities, 2023. 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

16 

• Conversations between city staff and community and development stakeholders regarding 
the current PUD process and its past performance. 

• Identify and update the intent statement of the PUD code to clearly state the City’s goals 
that a PUD should provide a variety of housing types and densities.  

• Identify desired amenities PUDs should provide in return for additional density or other 
deviations.  

• Review the process required for a PUD to ensure there is sufficient predictability from 
application to approval.  

  

Cottage Housing and Clustering. Cottage homes are a type of middle housing that cluster single-
family detached housing together on a parcel. The houses are arranged to provide shared areas for 
open space and parking. This clustering allows the developments to locate on smaller lots than would 
typically be required if all homes were developed independently. Cottage housing can provide 
opportunities for aging in place. Parking can be provided in a shared lot or along the access roads. 
Updates to the PUD code could be used to pilot such types of housing types. A good example of 
cottage housing being used is in Langley, Washington.  
 

 
BHC Consultants, Cottage Housing Example, 2023. 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

17 

Strategy 2. Update the Comprehensive Plan’s goals and policies to better 
reflect local and regional housing needs. 

Why implement this strategy?  

The Comprehensive Plan guides the long-term growth and vision of a city. The Policy Framework 
Review identified that the Plan’s Housing Element does not reflect the key issues identified in the 
Housing Needs Assessment (see Chapter 1). Updating the Plan’s goals and policies to reflect current 
and future housing needs helps ensure the city plans for and addresses them effectively. 

 
Action 2.1. Establish policies to encourage and support ADUs. 

Through outreach and engagement, community members identified ADUs as a positive way to 
increase housing supply that is consistent with the existing neighborhood types in the city. However, 
the existing Comp Plan goals and policies lack any mention of ADUs. A Housing Element policy 
specifically supporting ADUs would provide a clear statement that allowing and encouraging ADUs is 
a priority for the city.  

Options for policies include: 

• Allow and encourage Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) permitting and construction in 
residential zones. 

• Plan for and consider providing a streamlined process for pre-vetted ADU plans.  
• Engage and encourage residents on ADUs and their permit processes.  

Action 2.2. Create a goal that encourages housing supply and variety. 

The Housing Needs Assessment found that Napavine’s housing supply is not keeping up with 
demand. In addition, housing costs have increased to a point where nearly half the city is cost 

House Bill 1220 was passed in 2021. It amended the requirements for Comprehensive Plan Housing 
Elements under RCW 36.70A.070(2). In addition to the Comprehensive Plan updates informed 
through this Housing Action Plan, Napavine will be required to update their policies to reflect the 
new requirements. The update includes requirements for local governments to “plan and 
accommodate” housing affordable to all income levels.  

https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=36.70a.070


City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

18 

burdened by housing. To address these needs, Napavine needs a policy that encourages housing 
supply and types that are cost appropriate for Napavine’s community members.  

One option is to encourage more middle housing. Middle housing types provide “starter” or 
retirement housing opportunities for households that may not be able to afford a detached single-
family home. This type of housing can blend more easily into existing single-family detached 
neighborhoods and tends to be more cost-effective to build. Though these housing types are not 
prohibited in Napavine, a new goal or policy that clearly advocates for the creation of middle housing 
would support necessary code changes needed to facilitate this type of housing development.  

Options for a goal include: 

• Encourage residential types and designs that are both consistent with Napavine’s community 
identity and history while meeting the housing demands. 

• Promote a sufficient variety of housing types to meet Napavine’s current and future needs. 
• Achieve a housing supply and diversity that meets Napavine’s community needs.  

Options for policies include: 

• Foster duplex construction that complements the design and construction of existing homes.  
• Allow different densities, where appropriate, to reflect different needs and preferences of 

the community.   
• Encourage infill residential development on buildable vacant lands. 
• Provide more housing types and variety that support senior housing. 
• Promote a housing diversity that meets the needs of Napavine residents across all walks of 

life.  
• Ensure multi-family developments are in areas close to retail, employment, and 

transportation services.  
• Remove regulatory barriers to housing construction where possible.   

 

Action 2.3. Adopt policies that prioritize mitigating and addressing housing displacement 
and preserve existing affordable units. 

Housing displacement can be caused by either economic, cultural, or physical changes. For 
Napavine, economic displacement was identified as the most likely by stakeholders.  



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

19 

For example, while increasing housing supply to meet demand benefits communities with housing 
shortages, it can sometimes come at the cost of redeveloping housing units that are already 
considered affordable. It is important to balance preserving homes that are already affordable, to 
prevent residents from being displaced, while also planning for new homes.  

Housing and Land Use Element Policies in the Comprehensive Plan should be updated to address 
such risk by prioritizing anti-displacement strategies. 

Options for policies include: 

• Create partnerships with both regional and local community organizations to support the 
establishment of a Community Land Trust (CLT). 

• Reduce displacement risk through cost-appropriate housing for the Napavine community. 
• Preserve existing affordable housing in the city by promoting strategies such as land trusts, 

tax exemptions, and assistance grants. 
• Encourage preservation and maintenance of existing housing that is affordable to lower and 

median income segments. 
• Foster equal access to housing for all Napavine community members, regardless of 

household ages, income, race, and ability.   
• Remove barriers to housing access for all Napavine community members, regardless of age, 

income, race, and ability.  
• Promote housing opportunities that support aging in place.  
• Evaluate plans and investments considering their potential displacement impacts to low- and 

moderate-income households.   

Action 2.4. Adopt policies to plan for housing that meets the needs of all income levels. 

The Housing Needs Assessment found that market-rate homeownership is no longer affordable to 
over half of Napavine’s households. With the majority of homes being single-family homes and few 
rental opportunities, many Napavine residents will find it harder to find housing that falls within their 
means.  

Options for policies include: 

• Ensure housing is cost-appropriate for all household incomes of Napavine residents. 
• Support ownership and rental opportunities that are affordable to both current generations 

of Napavine residents as well as future generations. 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

20 

• Provide and preserve housing that is affordable to households with low and moderate 
incomes.  

• Reduce housing cost burdens by encouraging and incentivizing housing that is affordable to 
households with low and moderate incomes.  

Action 2.5 Increase land capacity for housing development by exploring changes to the 
UGA boundary to include properties with fewer environmental constraints and better 
access to utilities and infrastructure. 

The Housing Needs Assessment found that large areas of Napavine’s undeveloped Urban Growth 
Area are encumbered by wetlands unsuitable for housing development. Changes to the UGA 
boundaries could capture upland areas served by existing roads to which utilities can be efficiently 
extended. One option to attain this is in the 2024 Comprehensive Plan Update, utilize UGA swap 
provisions under RCW 36.70A.130.  

Action 2.6 Consider policies that encourage mixed-use development types and residential 
designs that meet both housing needs and encourage economic development. 

Currently, Napavine does not have any policies on mixed-uses. Mixed-use developments can provide 
both housing and economic development opportunities on the same lot.  

 
 
 

  

http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=36.70A.130


City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

21 

Strategy 3. Establish fee structures and incentives that support affordable 
housing and increase housing supply and diversity. 

Why implement this strategy? 

Providing Comprehensive Plan policies and development regulations that encourage and allow 
housing development may not be enough to make certain housing types feasible to build. 
Construction and labor costs and the availability of financing mechanisms impact the feasibility of a 
project, regardless of whether the code allows the building type or not.1  

Housing developed at current market rates is unaffordable for many of Napavine’s residents because 
of land and construction costs—only half of Napavine’s population is able to afford existing market 
rate housing, let alone new housing units. The Housing Needs Assessment identified that nearly half 
of Napavine’s residents spend more than 30% of their incomes on housing (Exhibit 3). It is therefore 
important to provide and incentivize more housing that current Napavine residents can afford. 

Exhibit 3  Cost Burdened Households 

 
     Source: HUD CHAS (2014-2018) 

 
 
1 Garcia, David, Muhammad Alameldin, Ben Metcalf, William Fulton, and Terner Fellow. “Unlocking the Potential of 
Missing Middle Housing.” Turner Center for Housing and Innovation: UC Berkeley, December 7, 2022. 

15% 30%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Severely Cost
Burdened

Cost Burdened



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

22 

Action 3.1. Strategically invest in infrastructure upgrades to support more affordable 
housing. 

Investing in infrastructure upgrades to support more affordable housing can be a strategic way to 
address the housing affordability crisis in many areas. However, it is a challenge for a small city. Here 
are some potential strategies for the City of Napavine: 

• The City is currently replacing the Jefferson pump station and proposes another lift station 
to increase sewer system capacity.  

• The City is improving pedestrian infrastructure to make it easier for residents to access 
affordable housing options in different parts of the city.  

Action 3.2. Waive or reduce fees for housing that meets Napavine’s affordability needs. 

Due to current economic conditions and land values, new market rate housing is unaffordable to 
many Napavine residents. To increase affordability, incentives are needed to enable affordable 
housing while not rendering their building infeasible. One solution is to reduce the City’s fees 
required for residential developments that contain affordable units. City fee reductions may include 
land use and building permit fees, impact fees, and utility connection fees.  

Options for reduced or waived fees include: 

• Reduce building and land use fees proportionally with the number of affordable units 
provided (see City of Lakewood example below). 

• Waive or delay connection fees if the project designates its units as being affordable for lower 
incomes (RCW 35.92.380 and RCW 35.92.020). 

• Reduce or defer impact fees if the housing is affordable for lower incomes (RCW 
82.02.060). 

• Reduce or waive utility connection fees, impact fees, and permit application fees related to 
ADUs. One option is to waive building permit fees for the ADU when the ADU is 
constructed with a new, primary unit.  

https://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35.92.380
https://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35.92.020
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=82.02.060
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=82.02.060


City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

23 

 

Action 3.3. Coordinate with the Lewis County Assessor to establish property tax 
abatements to incentivize upgrades to existing affordable homes. 

Upgrades to existing affordable rental stock can come at the cost of increases in rent, potentially 
displacing residents when they can no longer afford the rates. Some jurisdictions allow a property tax 
abatement for a period of time if the property meets certain criteria. The abatement allows greater 
financial flexibility for these types of housing to be upgraded at a lower financial burden, in return for 
guaranteeing that the units continue to meet certain affordability benchmarks.  

Lewis County has an existing home improvement exemption for single family dwellings. This Action 
would involve coordinating with the Assessor to extend these benefits to properties that provide less-
than market rate housing.  
  

Kitsap County Impact Fee Exemption Example. Kitsap County exempts low-income owner-
occupied and rental housing from paying impact fees if the owner guarantees that the housing will be 
affordable to low-incomes for 10 years (KCC 4.110.030). 
 
City of Lakewood Fee Reduction Example. The City of Lakewood provides a reduced fees in their 
code (LMC 18A.80.070) for land use and building permits. To qualify, the project must provide 
units affordable to very-low-income or extremely-low-income households. Below is a reproduction 
of their fee discounts based on the percentage of affordable units.  
 

 

https://dcd.kitsapgov.com/ordnances/kitsaphtml112613/Kitsap04/Kitsap04110.html#4.110.030
https://lakewood.municipal.codes/LMC/18A.90.070


City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

24 

Strategy 4. Preserve existing homes affordable to Napavine residents and 
reduce displacement. 

Why implement this strategy? 

Displacement occurs when housing or neighborhood conditions force residents to move, which can 
disrupt the social fabric of communities and impact the lives of those directly affected. Displacement 
can be physical, when building conditions deteriorate or redevelopment occurs; economic, as costs 
rise; or cultural, when people choose to move because their neighbors or culturally related businesses 
have moved.  

The community stakeholders group identified economic displacement as being the most likely and 
prevalent in Napavine. Economic displacement in the city may look like the following: 

• With insufficient housing supply, land values and housing costs increase. Households who 
find themselves among the 45% of households who are cost burdened before are forced to 
look outside the city to find more affordable homes.  

• Young adults moving out of their family’s home wish to find their residence on their own in 
Napavine. However, they cannot afford an apartment due to low supply in Napavine and high 
rents. Single-family homes cost more than they can afford at their income level. Without 
other options, they are forced to move away to find housing.  

Action 4.1. Promote tax relief programs for qualified homeowners. 

Lewis County provides property tax relief programs for eligible homes. The programs include Senior/ 
Disabled Persons Exemptions and the Home Improvement Exemption. The Home Improvement 
Exemption provides tax relief for three years for physical improvements to single family dwellings. 
These programs decrease cost burdens of repair and help ensure elderly and disabled individuals are 
not priced out of their homes.  

This strategy would ensure homeowners are aware of these programs through outreach and 
engagement. Engagement on the resources may include notices in utility bills, information at 
Napavine events, and city newsletters.  



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

25 

Action 4.2. Partner with existing organizations to seed a Community Land Trust (CLT). 

Community Land Trusts (CLTs) are nonprofit corporations that own land on behalf of a community. 
Generally, they acquire land through public or private investment. The CLT holds and manages the 
land in perpetuity but sells the homes on it to qualified households, with the agreement that the 
buyer will sell it to another qualified household when they wish to move. This model guarantees 
affordable housing stock while also fostering some modest wealth generating opportunities.  

This Action involves coordinating and partnering with existing organizations to assess interest and 
seek funding to seed a CLT. Given that CLTs are driven by community organizations, the role of the 
City of Napavine would be to inform organizations of the concept, support in the planning process, 
and assist in fundraising and sourcing financial resources.2  

 
 
2 Lowery, Lauren, Matt Weber, Jenee Gaynor, Natasha Leonard, Tina Lee, and Alexis Butler. “Community Land Trusts: A 
Guide for Local Governments.” Community Land Trusts: A Guide for Local Governments. National League of Cities, 
2021. https://www.nlc.org/resource/community-land-trusts-a-guide-for-local-governments/. 

Chelan Valley Housing Trust (CVHT). This CLT was formed in recognition that workers in the Lake 
Chelan valley could no longer afford housing in the area. To qualify for a home, an individual must live 
or work in Chelan or Manson and make less than 110% AMI. The organization focuses on ownership 
opportunities to foster wealth generation. The trust plans to put homes on the market in 2023. 
Below is an example of one of their proposed homes in Emerson Village. According to their press 
release, a townhome in Emerson Village will be priced at $200,000. 2022 Redfin data lists the 
median sale price of homes in Chelan County at $558,000.  
 

 
Image Source: Chelan Valley Housing Trust. “Chelan Valley Housing Trust Announces First Project.” 
https://chelanvalleyhousing.org/chelan-valley-housing-trust-announces-first-project/. 

https://chelanvalleyhousing.org/chelan-valley-housing-trust-announces-first-project/


City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

26 

Action 4.3. Preserve mobile and manufactured home parks and mitigate impacts when 
preservation is not possible. 

Mobile and manufactured home parks can provide affordable housing opportunities. However, 
displacement can occur when the landowner decides to sell a mobile or manufactured home park. 
Existing residents can then find themselves without similarly affordable housing options. 

Existing mobile and manufactured home parks should be preserved where possible. For 
circumstances where this is not possible, the Department of Commerce offers a relocation 
assistance program for low-income residents. 

 Specific policy options to encourage mobile and manufactured home park preservation include: 

• Require by code that mobile and manufactured home park owners provide relocation 
information prior to issuing eviction notices with the intent to sell. The information must 
include information on potential options for other accommodations and any resources to 
reduce relocation burdens. For example, The Department of Commerce provides a 
relocation assistance program for qualified households.  

• Provide mobile and manufactured home residents information on resident to ownership 
opportunities, such as Resident-Owned Communities.  

• Adopt code that requires owners provide residents a right to purchase prior to sale (see 
Tenant Opportunity to Purchase example below).  

• Create a zone or overlay for mobile and manufactured home parks. This option would 
designate a zone to ensure mobile and manufactured homes are preserved or to establish a 
new location for siting of manufactured homes on small lots.   

 

https://www.commerce.wa.gov/building-infrastructure/housing/mobile-home-relocation-assistance/


City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

27 

 

  

Relocation Report and Plan Example. The City of Kent requires mobile home park owners to 
submit a relocation report and plan when the owner proposes changes in use for the property (KCC 
12.05.330). The report must include a list of resources for tenants, and list actions the owner will 
take to assist park tenants in their relocation.  
 
Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Example. The District of Columbia has an Opportunity to 
Purchase section of their code (§ 42–3404.01). The program requires owners to give tenants the 
opportunity to purchase the home prior to sale.   
 
Resident-Owned Communities. Resident-Owned Communities (ROCs) are mobile or 
manufactured homes that are purchased through a housing authority or nonprofit. Generally, it 
involves creating a cooperative to hold and manage the property, with homeowners having a share in 
the cooperative. This model preserves the homes and gives owners security and a voice in how the 
community is improved. The Washington State Housing Finance Commission has financial tools and 
guidance on how to create an ROC. The Hillside Cooperative in Centralia is one such example.  

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Kent/?Kent12/Kent1205.html#12.05.330
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Kent/?Kent12/Kent1205.html#12.05.330
https://code.dccouncil.gov/us/dc/council/code/titles/42/chapters/34/subchapters/IV/
https://www.wshfc.org/mhcf/manufactured.htm
https://www.wshfc.org/mhcf/manufactured.htm
https://www.wshfc.org/admin/releases/2016.08.17Hillside.pdf


City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

28 

Strategy 5. Partner with regional organizations to design and implement 
housing programs to reduce cost burdens for Napavine. 

Why implement this strategy? 

Considering its proximity to I-5, Centralia, and Chehalis, Napavine cannot address housing issues 
without considering regional pressures and influences. It is therefore important to create 
partnerships across the region to ensure that housing needs are being addressed fully. Partnerships 
and collaborations can help ensure that the costs and impacts of regional issues do not 
disproportionately fall on one community, but are shared among the impacted jurisdictions. 
Furthermore, local government is limited in its capacity to address all housing issues that the 
jurisdiction may face. Ensuring that there is a network of supportive partnerships can increase the 
beneficial impacts and sustainability of projects and programs.  

Exhibit 4  Vicinity Map 

 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

29 

Action 5.1. Collaborate with local stakeholders and community organizations to identify 
and address barriers to housing that extend beyond housing policy and planning. 

Housing issues intersect across different levels of government and jurisdictional boundaries. One 
issue raised by local Napavine stakeholders is funding constraints for local schools. Being unable to 
fully fund the schools at the capacity demanded greatly impacts the housing and community makeup 
of Napavine.  

Action 5.2. Coordinate with the cities of Chehalis and Centralia to ensure housing supply 
keeps up with employment and demands across the region. 

One jurisdiction should not bear the full responsibility of regional housing demands. This action 
recognizes that housing pressures and trends are not unique to Napavine, but across the I-5 corridor 
in the greater Centralia Metropolitan Area. Ensuring that City staff are represented and attending 
the Lewis County Planned Growth Committee meetings would facilitate active regional 
collaboration on housing.  
 
 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

30 

Evaluation of Strategies and Actions 
The strategies and actions proposed in this chapter may have differing impacts on housing supply, 
diversity, displacement, and affordability. Furthermore, some strategies may be more feasible than 
others. The matrix Exhibit 5 evaluates each proposed strategy against seven criteria chosen to 
represent desired outcomes of this Plan. The matrix assigns a high, medium, or low score, to how 
each strategy: 

• Increases housing supply 
• Streamlines housing development processes 
• Increases housing stock diversity 
• Fosters affordable homeownership or rental opportunities 
• Creates senior housing 
• Is conducive to low incomes 
• Reduces displacement risk 

Each strategy has been assigned an impact score, based on the number of points it received in the 
evaluation matrix. 
 

 
Source: BHC Consultants 

 
 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

31 

Exhibit 5  Evaluation of Strategies and Actions 
Legend  
(Low or no impact = red, 0 points. Moderate positive impact = yellow, 1 point. High positive impact = green, 2 points) 

No. Strategy 

Increases 
housing 
supply 

Streamlines 
housing 
development 

Increases 
housing 
stock 
diversity 

Fosters 
affordable 
homeownership 

Fosters 
affordable 
rental 
housing 

Creates 
senior 
housing 

Conducive 
to low 
incomes 

Reduced 
displacement 
risk 

1 Update development regulations to increase housing supply and diversity 

1.1 
Make it easier to develop Accessory 
Dwelling Unit (ADUs) in R-2 Zone. 
Impact Score: 11 

High High High Moderate Moderate Moderate Low High 

1.2 

Update development regulations to 
reduce barriers to middle housing, 
particularly duplexes. 
Impact Score: 11 

High High High Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate 

1.3 
Streamline permit processes. 
Impact Score: 6 

Moderate High Moderate Moderate Low Low Low Moderate 

1.4 

Review the Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) code and 
procedures to target housing 
diversity and provide more affordable 
housing options. 
Impact Score: 8 

High High High Low Low Moderate Moderate Low 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

32 

Legend  
(Low or no impact = red, 0 points. Moderate positive impact = yellow, 1 point. High positive impact = green, 2 points) 

No. Strategy 

Increases 
housing 
supply 

Streamlines 
housing 
development 

Increases 
housing 
stock 
diversity 

Fosters 
affordable 
homeownership 

Fosters 
affordable 
rental 
housing 

Creates 
senior 
housing 

Conducive 
to low 
incomes 

Reduced 
displacement 
risk 

2 Update the Comprehensive Plan’s goals and policies to better reflect local and regional housing needs 

2.1 
Establish policies to encourage and 
support ADUs. 
Impact Score: 11 

High Low High Low High High Moderate High 

2.2 
Create a goal that encourages 
housing supply and variety. 
Impact Score: 8 

High Low High Low Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate 

2.3 

Adopt policies that prioritize 
mitigating and addressing housing 
displacement and preserve existing 
affordable units. 
Impact Score: 11 

Low Low Moderate High High High High High 

2.4 

Adopt policies to plan for housing 
that meets the needs of all income 
levels. 
Impact Score: 14 

Moderate Moderate High High High High High High 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

33 

Legend  
(Low or no impact = red, 0 points. Moderate positive impact = yellow, 1 point. High positive impact = green, 2 points) 

No. Strategy 

Increases 
housing 
supply 

Streamlines 
housing 
development 

Increases 
housing 
stock 
diversity 

Fosters 
affordable 
homeownership 

Fosters 
affordable 
rental 
housing 

Creates 
senior 
housing 

Conducive 
to low 
incomes 

Reduced 
displacement 
risk 

2.5 

Increase land capacity for housing 
development by exploring changes to 
the UGA boundary to include 
properties with fewer environmental 
constraints and better access to 
utilities and infrastructure. 
Impact Score: 8 

High Low Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate 

2.6 

Consider policies that encourage 
mixed-use development types and 
residential designs that meet both 
housing needs and encourage 
economic development. 
Impact Score: 9 

High High High Low Moderate Moderate Low Moderate 

3 Establish fee structures and incentives that support affordable housing and increase housing supply and diversity 

3.1 

Strategically invest in infrastructure 
upgrades to support more affordable 
housing. 
Impact Score: 10 

High High High Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate Low 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

34 

Legend  
(Low or no impact = red, 0 points. Moderate positive impact = yellow, 1 point. High positive impact = green, 2 points) 

No. Strategy 

Increases 
housing 
supply 

Streamlines 
housing 
development 

Increases 
housing 
stock 
diversity 

Fosters 
affordable 
homeownership 

Fosters 
affordable 
rental 
housing 

Creates 
senior 
housing 

Conducive 
to low 
incomes 

Reduced 
displacement 
risk 

3.2 

Waive or reduce fees for housing 
that meets Napavine’s affordability 
needs. 
Impact Score: 15 

High High High High High Moderate High High 

3.3 

Coordinate with the Lewis County 
Assessor to establish property tax 
abatements to incentivize upgrades 
to existing affordable homes. 
Impact Score: 10 

Low Low Low High High High High High 

4 Preserve existing homes affordable to Napavine residents and reduce displacement 

4.1 
Promote tax relief programs for 
qualified homeowners. 
Impact Score: 10 

Low Low Low High High High High High 

4.2 
Partner with existing organizations to 
seed a Community Land Trust (CLT).  
Impact Score: 14 

High Moderate Moderate High High High High High 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

35 

Legend  
(Low or no impact = red, 0 points. Moderate positive impact = yellow, 1 point. High positive impact = green, 2 points) 

No. Strategy 

Increases 
housing 
supply 

Streamlines 
housing 
development 

Increases 
housing 
stock 
diversity 

Fosters 
affordable 
homeownership 

Fosters 
affordable 
rental 
housing 

Creates 
senior 
housing 

Conducive 
to low 
incomes 

Reduced 
displacement 
risk 

4.3 

Preserve mobile and manufactured 
home parks and mitigate impacts 
when preservation is not possible. 
Impact Score: 10 

Low Low Low High High High High High 

5 Partner with regional organizations to design and implement housing programs to reduce cost burdens for Napavine 

5.1 

Collaborate with local stakeholders 
and community organizations to 
identify and address barriers to 
housing that extend beyond housing 
policy and planning. 
Impact Score: 10 

Low Low Low High High High High High 

5.2 

Coordinate with the cities of 
Chehalis and Centralia to ensure 
housing supply keeps up with 
employment and demands across the 
region. 
Impact Score: 9 

High Low High Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

36 

3. Implementation and Monitoring 
The implementation matrix in Exhibit 6 identifies anticipated implementation timeframes after adoption: 
  

Short-term: 1-3 years  
 Mid-term: 3-5 years 
 Long-term: 5+ years 
 

Exhibit 6  Implementation and Monitoring Plan Matrix 

No. Strategy/Action Responsible Party Timeline Resources Needed Monitoring Method 

1.  Update development regulations to increase housing supply and diversity 
1.1 Make it easier to develop 

Accessory Dwelling Units 
(ADUs) in R-2 Zone. 

Community 
Development 
Department; 
Approval by 
Planning 
Commission/ 
Council 

 

Short-term Staff time Amendments to Napavine 
municipal code. Quarterly 
review of ADU 
requirements and number 
of ADUs.  

1.2 Update development 
regulations to reduce barriers to 
middle housing, particularly 
duplexes. 

Community 
Development 
Department; 
Approval by 
Planning 

Short-term Staff time Amendments to Napavine 
municipal code. Quarterly 
review of development 
regulations and number of 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

37 

No. Strategy/Action Responsible Party Timeline Resources Needed Monitoring Method 

Commission/ 
Council 

duplexes and other forms 
of missing middle housing 

1.3 Streamline permit processes. Community 
Development 
Department; 
Approval by 
Planning 
Commission/ 
Council 

Short-term Staff time, outreach 
to developers and 
local builders 

Review updated permit 
processes and ensure the 
process is clear for 
applicants 

1.4 Review the Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) code and 
procedures to target housing 
diversity and provide more 
affordable housing options. 

Community 
Development 
Department; 
Approval by 
Planning 
Commission/ 
Council 

Short-term Staff time, 
collaboration with 
development and 
community 
stakeholders 

Review PUD process to 
ensure there is 
predictability from 
application to approval, 
quarterly coordination 
between city staff and 
community and 
development stakeholders 

2. Update the Comprehensive Plan’s goals and policies to better reflect local and regional housing needs 
2.1 Establish policies to encourage 

and support ADUs. 
Community 
Development 
Department; 
Approval by 

Mid-term Staff time, 
community 
outreach, consultant 

During the 2024 Comp 
Plan Update, ensure 
amendments to Napavine 
Comp Plan Policies  



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

38 

No. Strategy/Action Responsible Party Timeline Resources Needed Monitoring Method 

Planning 
Commission/ 
Council 

fees if hired for the 
Comp Plan update 

2.2 Create a goal that encourages 
housing supply and variety. 

Community 
Development 
Department; 
Approval by 
Planning 
Commission/ 
Council 

Short-term Staff time, 
community 
outreach, consultant 
fees if hired for the 
Comp Plan update 

During the 2024 Comp 
Plan Update, ensure 
amendments to Napavine 
Comp Plan 

2.3 Adopt policies that prioritize 
mitigating and addressing 
housing displacement and 
preserve existing affordable 
units. 

Community 
Development 
Department; 
Approval by 
Planning 
Commission/ 
Council 

Mid-term Staff time, 
community 
outreach, consultant 
fees if hired for the 
Comp Plan update 

During the 2024 Comp 
Plan Update, ensure 
amendments to Napavine 
Comp Plan 

2.4 Adopt policies to plan for 
housing that meets the needs of 
all income levels. 

Community 
Development 
Department; 
Approval by 
Planning 

Mid-term Staff time, 
community 
outreach, consultant 
fees if hired for the 
Comp Plan update 

During the 2024 Comp 
Plan Update, ensure 
amendments to Napavine 
Comp Plan 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

39 

No. Strategy/Action Responsible Party Timeline Resources Needed Monitoring Method 

Commission/ 
Council 

2.5 Increase land capacity for 
housing development by 
exploring changes to the UGA 
boundary to include properties 
with fewer environmental 
constraints and better access to 
utilities and infrastructure. 

Community 
Development 
Department; 
Approval by 
Planning 
Commission/ 
Council 

Short-term Staff time, 
community 
outreach, consultant 
fees if hired for the 
Comp Plan update. 

During the 2024 Comp 
Plan Update, review 
changes to the UGA 
boundary 

2.6 Consider policies that 
encourage mixed-use 
development types and 
residential designs that meet 
both housing needs and 
encourage economic 
development. 

Community 
Development 
Department; 
Approval by 
Planning 
Commission/ 
Council 

Short-term Staff time, 
community 
outreach, consultant 
fees if hired for the 
Comp Plan update 

During the 2024 Comp 
Plan Update, ensure 
amendments to Napavine 
Comp Plan 

3. Establish fee structures and incentives that support affordable housing an increase housing supply and diversity 
3.1 Strategically invest in 

infrastructure upgrades to 
support more affordable 
housing. 

Community 
Development 
Department 

Long-term Staff time, 
consultant fees 

Annual review of strategies 
to increase infrastructure 
capacity to serve growth. 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

40 

No. Strategy/Action Responsible Party Timeline Resources Needed Monitoring Method 

3.2 Waive or reduce fees for 
housing that meets Napavine’s 
affordability needs. 

Community 
Development 
Department 

Mid-term Staff time, developer 
partnerships 

Annual review of 
development fees to 
ensure they are promoting 
affordable housing 
development. 

3.3 Coordinate with the Lewis 
County Assessor to establish 
property tax abatements to 
incentivize upgrades to existing 
affordable homes. 

Community 
Development 
Department 

Mid-term Staff time, 
coordination with 
Lewis County 
Assessor 

Work with Lewis County 
Assessor to allow greater 
financial flexibility for 
upgrading existing 
affordable homes 

4. Preserve existing homes affordable to Napavine residents and reduce displacement 
4.1 Promote tax relief programs for 

qualified homeowners. 
Community 
Development 
Department;  

Short-term Staff time, 
coordination with 
Lewis County and 
utility providers to 
inform community 
members 

Promote awareness of 
property tax relief 
programs in Lewis County. 
Monitor enrollment in 
these programs. 

4.2 Partner with existing 
organizations to seed a 
Community Land Trust (CLT). 

Community 
Development 
Department  

Mid-term Staff time, 
coordination with 
organizations, 
funding 

Annual review to monitor 
amount of land under CLT 
, assist with funding, 
planning, and coordination 
with organizations. 



City of Napavine, WA 
2023 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Action Plan – DRAFT 
 

41 

No. Strategy/Action Responsible Party Timeline Resources Needed Monitoring Method 

4.3 Preserve mobile and 
manufactured home parks and 
mitigate impacts when 
preservation is not possible. 

Community 
Development 
Department; 
Approval by 
Planning 
Commission/ 
Council 

Short-term Staff time Amendments to Napavine 
municipal code. 

5. Partner with regional organizations to design and implement housing programs to reduce cost burdens for Napavine 
5.1 Collaborate with local 

stakeholders and community 
organizations to identify and 
address barriers to housing that 
extend beyond housing policy 
and planning. 

Community 
Development 
Department 

Long-term, 
continuous 

Staff time, 
collaboration with 
community 
organizations and 
stakeholders 

Quarterly review of 
collaborative and outreach 
efforts in support of 
addressing barriers related 
to housing 

5.2 Coordinate with the cities of 
Chehalis and Centralia to 
ensure housing supply keeps up 
with employment and demands 
across the region. 

Community 
Development 
Department 

Long-term, 
continuous 

Staff time, 
coordination with 
Chehalis and 
Centralia staff 

Bi-annual coordination 
with Chehalis and 
Centralia staff, Napavine 
city staff to attend Lewis 
County Planned Growth 
Committee meetings. 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPE N DIX A 
 

H O USIN G N E E DS ASSE SSME N T 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

City of Napavine 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment  
November 2022 

 
Prepared by:  

 

 
BHC Consultants, LLC 

1601 Fifth Avenue, Suite 500 
Seattle, WA 98101 

(206) 505-3400 
www.bhcconsultants.com 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

i 

CONTENTS 

1. Background and Summary of Key Findings ......................................................................................... 1 
1.1 Background ............................................................................................................................... 1 
1.2 Key Findings ............................................................................................................................. 1 

2. Napavine Context ................................................................................................................................ 4 
2.1 Structural Racism in Housing Policy ......................................................................................... 4 
2.2 Tribal Lands .............................................................................................................................. 5 

3. Population Characteristics ................................................................................................................... 6 
3.1 Current and Future Population .................................................................................................. 6 
3.2 Age ............................................................................................................................................ 6 
3.3 Race and Ethnicity .................................................................................................................... 7 

4. Household Characteristics ................................................................................................................... 9 
4.1 Household Income .................................................................................................................. 10 
4.2 Cost Burdened Households .................................................................................................... 11 
4.3 Workforce Profile ..................................................................................................................... 12 

5. Housing Inventory and Characteristics .............................................................................................. 13 
5.1 Housing Tenure ....................................................................................................................... 14 
5.2 Housing Production ................................................................................................................. 15 
5.3 Housing Costs ......................................................................................................................... 16 
5.4 Subsidized Housing and Group Homes .................................................................................. 16 
5.5 Displacement and Housing Insecurity ..................................................................................... 17 

6. Gap Analysis ...................................................................................................................................... 18 
6.1 Home Ownership Available by Affordability Level ................................................................... 18 
6.2 Rental Units Available by Affordability Level ........................................................................... 18 
6.3 Alignment of Household Size to Housing Unit Sizes ............................................................... 19 
6.4 Projected Future Housing Demand ......................................................................................... 20 
6.5 Land Capacity Analysis ........................................................................................................... 21 

 
 

EXHIBITS 
Exhibit 1  Projected Housing Unit Demand .................................................................................................... 1 
Exhibit 2  Cost Burdened Households ........................................................................................................... 2 
Exhibit 3  Household Sizes Compared to Housing Unit Size ......................................................................... 3 
Exhibit 4  Historic and Projected Population in Napavine, 2013-2035 ........................................................... 6 
Exhibit 5  Population Age in Napavine, 2010 and 2020 ................................................................................. 7 
Exhibit 6  Racial Demographics of Napavine, 2010 and 2020 ....................................................................... 7 
Exhibit 7  Ethnicity, 2010 and 2020................................................................................................................ 8 
Exhibit 8  Households Characteristics ........................................................................................................... 9 
Exhibit 9  Share of Households Living Alone ................................................................................................. 9 
Exhibit 10  Crowded Housing Units ............................................................................................................. 10 
Exhibit 11  Household Incomes in Napavine ............................................................................................... 10 
Exhibit 12  Incomes Across Renters and Owners ........................................................................................ 11 
Exhibit 13  Cost Burdened Households ....................................................................................................... 11 



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

ii 

Exhibit 14  Regional Employment Projections ............................................................................................. 12 
Exhibit 15  Housing Stock and Characteristics ............................................................................................ 13 
Exhibit 16  Housing Stock by Number of Bedrooms .................................................................................... 14 
Exhibit 17  Renter Versus Owner Households ............................................................................................. 15 
Exhibit 18  Residential Building Permits ...................................................................................................... 15 
Exhibit 19  2022 Fair Market Rents in Lewis County ................................................................................... 16 
Exhibit 20  Home Ownership Affordability .................................................................................................... 18 
Exhibit 21  Rental Units Available by Income Bracket ................................................................................. 19 
Exhibit 22  Household Sizes Compared to Housing Unit Size ..................................................................... 19 
Exhibit 23  Projected Housing Unit Demand ................................................................................................ 20 
Exhibit 24  Housing Land Capacity Analysis ................................................................................................ 21 
Exhibit 25  Population changes by age ........................................................................................................ 24 
Exhibit 26  Low-Income Households ............................................................................................................ 24 
Exhibit 27  Cost-Burdened Households ....................................................................................................... 24 
Exhibit 28  Housing Tenure by Race ........................................................................................................... 25 
 
 

APPENDICES 
Appendix A – Additional Data Tables 
Appendix B – Vacant Buildable Land Capacity Map 
  



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

iii 

GLOSSARY AND DEFINITIONS 

ACS American Community Survey 
AMI Area Median Income 
ESD Washington State Employment Security Department 
Group Quarters The US Census Bureau defines group quarters as a place where “people live or stay in 

a group living arrangement that is owned or managed by an organization providing 
housing and/or services for the residents.” This can include college residence halls, 
nursing facilities, military barracks, prisons, and worker dormitories. 

HAP Housing Action Plan 
HAMFI HUD Area Median Family Income. This is the median family income calculated by 

HUD for each jurisdiction. 
HNA Housing Needs Assessment 
HUD U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 
HUD CHAS HUD Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy.  
LIHTC Low Income Housing Tax Credit 
OFM Washington State Office of Financial Management 
  
 
 



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

1 

1. Background and Summary of  Key Findings 

1.1 Background  
As defined by the Washington State Department of Commerce, a Housing Heeds Assessment (HNA) 
assesses:1 

1. Who lives and works here and what are their socioeconomic characteristics? 
2. What types of housing are available? 
3. Are there any groups of people who are not able to find housing that is safe, affordable, and meets 

their household needs? 
4. How much housing, and what types of housing, are needed to meet current and future housing 

needs? 
5. Is there sufficient buildable land capacity to accommodate this growth and housing diversity? 

 

1.2 Key Findings 
• Current housing production will not meet projected population growth. While housing 

development and residential building permits have increased in recent years, this falls short of the 
additional 1,165 units needed if Napavine reaches its Napavine’s 2017-2037 Comprehensive Plan 
project population growth. 
 

Exhibit 1  Projected Housing Unit Demand 

 
Historic trend scenario uses ACS estimates to project future demand. The intermediate scenario uses the 10-year average of 
building permits in Napavine. The high scenario uses the highest production rate of 29 units approved through building permits in 
2021, and projects that year-on-year. Uses a 4.4% vacancy rate, consistent with 2020.  
Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates; City of Napavine Comprehensive Plan (2017); Census Building Permits Survey (2010-2020).  

 
1 Washington State Department of Commerce. “Guidance for Developing a Housing Needs Assessment.” Public Review Draft, 
March 2020. 

578 615 654
705

905

500

600

700

800

900

1000

1100

1200

2010 2020 2030

Ho
us

ing
 U

nit
s

Historic Trend of Housing Unit Supply Moderate Housing Unit Growth Scenario
High Housing Unit Growth Scenario

Housing Demand in 2030 = 1,165 units



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

2 

 
• Napavine's share of households with children is increasing, while single-member 

households are decreasing. Households with one or more members under the age of 18 
increased 7 percentage points from 2010 to 2020, while single-person households decreased by 5 
percentage points.  

 
• Nearly half of Napavine’s households—45%—is housing cost burdened. This means that 

these households pay more than 30% of their income to housing. 
 

Exhibit 2  Cost Burdened Households 

 
    Source: HUD CHAS (2014-2018) 

 
• Rental housing considered as “severely crowded” increased from zero to six percent from 

2015 to 2020. This could indicate inadequate availability of rental options and a lack of 
affordable rental options causing extended family members or unrelated adults to share 
accommodations. 
 

• Despite one- and two-person households accounting for half of Napavine households, only 
15% of housing units are one- or two-bedroom units. 86% of housing units have three or 
more bedrooms when only 50% of households have three or more persons. This lack of 
diversity in housing types can result in displacement of young adults and elderly households from 
the city, as they may be forced to move from the city to find housing types that cater towards their 
needs. Young adults may be forced to live with family members longer, as there is not any housing 
that meets their needs. Having more diverse housing types could foster more-appropriate 
housing options for those struggling to afford these larger housing types. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15% 30%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Households Severely Cost Burdened

Cost Burdened



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

3 

Exhibit 3  Household Sizes Compared to Housing Unit Size 

 

 
   Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates (2020). 

 
 

• Households making less than 30% of the Area Median Income (AMI) face the greatest 
barriers to finding rental housing in an affordable price range for their income level. 
Furthermore, shortages of units in the ideal price range for households making 80% or greater AMI 
may cause these households to compete for units for those making less than 80% AMI, 
exacerbating insufficient housing opportunities.  

 
• Nearly half of Napavine’s population cannot afford homes at current prices with a 20% down 

payment. Also, the share of those renting compared to owning homes increased from 2010 
to 2020 by 12 percentage points. These two findings signal an increased difficulty to afford home 
purchases. 
 

• If new housing in vacant, buildable lands is developed at current housing densities, the City 
will see a shortfall of 65 units to meet the projected 2030 housing unit demand. See Section 
6.5 Land Capacity Analysis. 

 
  

15%

35%

19%

31%

1-person household 2-person household 3-person household 4+ person household

5%
10%

62%

24%

1-bedroom 2-bedroom 3-bedroom 4+ bedrooms



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

4 

2. Napavine Context 
Napavine is located in Lewis County, six miles south of Chehalis on the northern edge of the Napavine, 
Jackson and Grand Prairies. The town sits along the I-5 corridor and is half-way between the cities of 
Tacoma, Washington, and Portland, Oregon.  
 
Napavine began as a logging and sawmill town. The first sawmill was financed by the Northern Pacific 
Railroad for railroad tie production. The rails were laid in 1873. In its early years, Napavine grew to include 
six sawmills, a shingle mill, two column factories, a general repair shop, two shoe shops and a blacksmith. 
In addition to manufacturing, the City included four general stores, two meat markets, two saloons, a 
drugstore, a doctor, two hotels, one livery and feed barn, a real estate office and a carpenter. The City of 
Napavine was incorporated in 1913 and an old, remodeled church became its first town hall. In the mid-20th 
century, after World War II, plans for the town’s first water system were initiated. A 100-foot well was drilled 
in 1955 to serve local businesses, the elementary and high schools and the 80 homes in town. In 1967 the 
150-foot water tower was built. 
 
Today, Napavine has a population of just over 2,000 people with a variety of businesses, land uses, and 
residences.   

2.1 Structural Racism in Housing Policy 
Inequities in US housing policy have been present for hundreds of years. Racial segregation in the US was 
the result of federal, state, and local policies and regulations that prevented Blacks from access to housing 
and mortgage loans and other New Deal reforms of the 1930s like the Social Security Act. Blacks and other 
people of color were denied access to home mortgages through a series of discriminatory policies 
including: 

• Government-sponsored racial covenants that barred Blacks from buying homes in white 
neighborhoods in the Federal Housing Administration (FHA) guidelines 

• FHA’s policy to not guarantee mortgages for Black borrowers 
• Redlining practices of private mortgage lenders and financial institutions that marked Black 

neighborhoods as risky  
• Blacks and other individuals of color were denied access to home mortgages in ways that severely 

limited their ability to purchase a home.  
Many homeownership programs did not open up to Black Americans until the Civil Right legislation of the 
late 1960s leaving them left out of decades of home appreciation and wealth creation.2 
 
In rental markets, applicants of color have been denied housing, held to higher standards, required to make 
larger deposits, or only shown units in certain neighborhoods.3 Washington State residents using housing 
vouchers designed to help low-income, elderly, and disabled individuals gain access to decent, safe 
housing in the private market have also faced challenges. While the State Legislature banned the practice 
of not accepting them as a form of payment in the 2018 session, enforcement remains a challenge.4 

 
2 Isabel Wilkerson, Caste: The Origins of Our Discontents (Random House, 2020). 
3 Margery Austin Turner et al., “Housing Discrimination Against Racial and Ethnic Minorities 2012” (U.S. Department of Housing 
and Urban Development, June 2013), https://www.huduser.gov/portal/Publications/pdf/HUD-514_HDS2012.pdf. 
4 David Kroman, “WA Landlords Continue to Turn Away Applicants with Section 8 Vouchers, despite New Law | Crosscut,” April 
10, 2019, https://crosscut.com/2019/04/wa-landlords-continue-turn-away-applicants-section-8-vouchers-despite-new-law. 



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

5 

 
Napavine’s population is predominantly white, and it is difficult to gather the stories and experiences that 
non-white residents may have now or in the past in finding housing in this community. However, the same 
forces that have caused inequities in the US and in Washington State are likely also present here. 
Napavine is part of the larger Centralia region, where there is a known lack of affordable housing options 
and higher levels of poverty among black/African American residents – based on the 2020 Census, poverty 
among black/African American persons in the region was over twice as high (27.6%) as the poverty rate 
among white persons (12.3%).5  
 

2.2 Tribal Lands  
Napavine lies on the traditional ancestral lands of the Cowlitz (Stl’pulmsh), Chehalis (Sq’ʷayáiɬaqtmš), and 
Coast Salish peoples. The first European claim was established by John R. Jackson on Jackson Prairie in 
1845, and three years later, in 1848, the United States formally named Lewis County as part of the Oregon 
Territory.6 The arrival of more Europeans accelerated the displacement of the Native inhabitants. The 
Quinault Treaty of 1855 with the U.S. government formalized the exchange of Native land in southwest 
Washington for reservation lands.  
 
The Confederated Tribes of the Chehalis Reservation are located approximately 30 miles northwest of 
Napavine. Though they were provided reservation lands, this group was regarded as a “non-treaty” tribe, 
which meant they did not accept the terms and treaties offered by the U.S. Government.7 The 
Confederated Tribes of the Chehalis Reservation are the federally recognized tribe of the Upper and Lower 
Chehalis Rivers.  
 
  

 
5 2020 American Community Survey, “Poverty Status in the Past 12 Months, Centralia, WA Micro Area.  
6 Wilma, David. “Lewis County – Thumbnail History.” HistoryLink.org. Posted 9/1/2005. Accessed 9/16/2022. URL: 
https://www.historylink.org/file/7449.  
7 Confederated Tribes of the Chehalis Reservation. “People of the Sands.” The Confederated Tribes of the Chehalis Reservation. 
Accessed 9/16/2022. URL: https://www.chehalistribe.org/our-story/people-of-the-sands/.   

https://www.historylink.org/file/7449
https://www.chehalistribe.org/our-story/people-of-the-sands/


City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

6 

3. Population Characteristics 

3.1 Current and Future Population 
Napavine’s 2017-2037 Comprehensive Plan projects a 2030 population of 3,063 people, based on 
estimates from Washington State Office of Financial Management (OFM). This growth represents an 
average annual increase of 3.6%, as shown in Exhibit 4 below. While Napavine’s population has remained 
relatively constant over the last 10 years, recent population estimates from OFM showed a growth rate of 
3% from 2021 to 2022, suggesting the rate of growth is accelerating.8 If this accelerated rate of growth 
continues, Napavine’s population may reach the population projected below in the next 10 years or so. This 
level of rapid growth would also increase needs for housing, as well as other City infrastructure and 
services. 
 

Exhibit 4  Historic and Projected Population in Napavine, 2013-2035 

 
Note: The 2030 projection is based on the adopted growth target in Napavine’s 2017-2037 Comprehensive Plan. 
Sources: WA Office of Financial Management (2022); City of Napavine Comprehensive Plan (2017) 
 

3.2 Age 
The largest shift in Napavine’s population from 2010 to 2020 has been a shift with the millennial generation 
(born between 1981 and 1996) reaching adulthood, shown in Exhibit 5. On average, individuals in their 20s 
increased nearly 10% annually from 2010. The number of preteens and teens in Napavine both 

 
8 At the time of this assessment, OFM had yet to provide adjusted historical estimates prior to 2020 based on the April 1st 
Estimates from the 2020 Census. ACS 5-Year Estimates were used instead.  

1,892

1,571

2096

3,063

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

2013 2015 2017 2019 2021 2023 2025 2027 2029

+3.6% Avg. Annual Change



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

7 

experienced similar average declines of 9% annually, which indicates the City has fewer young children 
between 0 and 9. 
 

Exhibit 5  Population Age in Napavine, 2010 and 2020 

  
Sources: ACS 5-Year Estimates (2010, 2020).  
 

3.3 Race and Ethnicity 
Napavine’s race and ethnicity demographics have remained relatively consistent over the 10 years from 
2010 to 2020. Exhibit 6 shows a slight increase of 2 percentage points in individuals identifying with two or 
more races, with only a 1 percentage point change in the number of people identifying as White. Exhibit 7 
shows that Napavine has remained over 90% Non-Hispanic or Latino from 2010 to 2020.  
 

Exhibit 6  Racial Demographics of Napavine, 2010 and 2020 

 

138

317

197

245

293

159 148

6370

225

297 295

230

158

89
69

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

0 to 4 5 to 9 10 to 19 20 to 29 30 to 39 40 to 54 55 to 64 65 to 74

2010 2020

91%

90%

2%

1%

1%

1%

1%

2%

5%

7%

2010

2020

White Alone Black or African American
American Indian or Alaska Native Asian
Some other race Two or more races



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

8 

      Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates (2010, 2020).  
 

Exhibit 7  Ethnicity, 2010 and 2020 

 
            Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates (2010, 2020).  

  

6%

3%

94%

97%

2010

2020

Hispanic or Latino Non-Hispanic or Latino



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

9 

4. Household Characteristics 
Napavine has an estimated 569 households in 2020. This was a 2% increase from the 2010 estimate. 
While households have increased, the average household size decreased slightly. However, the sizes 
remain relatively consistent at just below 3 individuals per household on average (see Exhibit 8).  
 

Exhibit 8  Households Characteristics   
2010 2020 % Change 

Number of households 560 569 +2% 
Average household size 3.0 2.8 -7% 
Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates (2010, 2020) 

 
 
As seen in Exhibit 9, the average Napavine household became slightly younger as a whole from 2010 to 
2020. The number of households with a member under the age of 18 increased 12% over the 10-year 
period. At the same time, the number of households with only one person declined across the board 
regardless of age.  
 

Exhibit 9  Share of Households Living Alone 

 
Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates (2010, 2020)  
 
 
The percentage of housing units that are considered “severely crowded” increased from 0% of renter 
households in 2015 to nearly 6% in 2020 (see Exhibit 10). The US Census Bureau designates households 
with more than one person per room as crowded. This could indicate inadequate availability of rental 
options and a lack of affordable rental options causing extended family members or unrelated adults to 
share accommodations.  
 

43%

38%

20%

9%

49%

30%

15%

8%

Households with one or more people under 18

Households with one or more people 60+

Households living alone

Households living alone, 65+

2020

2010

Households with one person 
shrank 5 percentage points from 
2010 to 2020



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

10 

 
 

Exhibit 10  Crowded Housing Units 

Year 
Percent Severely Crowded Housing Units 
Renter-Occupied Owner-Occupied 

2015 0% 0% 
2020 5.6% 0% 
Source: PolicyMap, ACS 5-Year Estimates 

 

4.1 Household Income 
The largest segment of Napavine households, 27% of them, make between $50,000 and $75,000. The 
median household income in Napavine is $61,713, as show in Exhibit 11. This is 23% increase from the 
median income in 2020, which was $50,303.  
 

Exhibit 11  Household Incomes in Napavine 

 
         Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates (2020) 
 
 
When looking at income brackets for households making less than the median broken out by renters and 
homeowners, higher incomes generally own their home compared to the lower brackets, which tend to rent 
their home (see Exhibit 12). 
 
 
 
 
 

3%

5%

6%

7%

7%

27%

20%

20%

3%

1%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30%

Below $10,000

$10,000 - $15,000

$15,000 - $25,000

$25,000 - $35,000

$35,000 - $50,000

$50,000 - $75,000

$75,000 - $100,00

$100,000 - $150,00

$150,000 - $200,00

More than $200,000

Median household income: $61,713



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

11 

 
 

Exhibit 12  Incomes Across Renters and Owners 

 
Source: HUD CHAS (2014-2018) 

4.2 Cost Burdened Households 
Cost-burdened households are those that spend more than 30% of their monthly income toward housing 
costs, while severely cost-burdened households spend more than 50% or half of their incomes on housing 
costs. The most recent data available shows that 45% of Napavine Households are either cost-burdened or 
severely cost-burdened (see Exhibit 13).  
 

Exhibit 13  Cost Burdened Households 

 
Source: HUD CHAS (2014-2018) 
 

 

19%

13%

6%

23%

39%

10%

6%

10%

18%

56%

≤ 30%

>30% to ≤ 50%

>50% to ≤ 80%

>80% to ≤ 100%

>100%

HA
MF

I

Owners Renters

15% 30%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Households Severely Cost Burdened

Cost Burdened

45% of Napavine Households are Cost 
Burdened



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

12 

When households face high rates of cost burden, they often must make difficult choices in prioritizing 
purchases for other necessities such as food, healthcare, and childcare. This is especially true for 
households with older residents or children, who need medical care and nutrition. One study reported that 
those experiencing housing insecurity were two times more likely to have poorer health than those who are 
housing secure.9 Unaffordability has also been linked to more forced moves. Paying more of your income 
to housing can increase risk of forced moves, which have been linked to higher rates of depression and 
worse outcomes for children who experience it.10  
 
In Napavine, we know that over half the population is either in a household with one or more child (49% of 
the population) or is an elderly person living alone (8% of the population, see Exhibit 9). Both these groups 
are particularly vulnerable to the strains of being cost-burdened by housing.  

4.3 Workforce Profile 
Washington State Employment Security Department (ESD) projects jobs will grow 18% in the Pacific 
Mountain Region over the next 10 years. The sector expected to see the highest level of growth in the 
region is leisure and hospitality, a 47% increase, as seen in Exhibit 14. The leisure sector is followed by the 
professional and business service and information sectors, seeing expected 26% and 24% increases 
respectively.  

Exhibit 14  Regional Employment Projections 
 2020 2030 

Percent 
change Jobs Percent of 

total Jobs Percent of 
total 

Natural resources and mining 1,400 1% 1,400 1% 0% 
Construction 10,300 6% 12,500 6% 21% 
Manufacturing 10,400 6% 11,200 5% 8% 
Wholesale trade 5,800 3% 6,400 3% 10% 
Retail trade 21,200 11% 24,200 11% 14% 
Transportation, warehousing, and 
utilities 5,500 3% 5,900 3% 7% 

Information 1,700 1% 2,100 1% 24% 
Financial activities 6,200 3% 6,700 3% 8% 
Professional and business services 15,600 8% 19,700 9% 26% 
Education and health services 27,500 15% 34,200 16% 24% 
Leisure and hospitality 15,900 9% 23,400 11% 47% 
Other services 6,800 4% 7,900 4% 16% 
Government 57,200 31% 62,700 29% 10% 
Total  185,500  218,300  18% 
Comprehensive Plan does not provide local level employment projections for 2030.  
Source: ESD (2020), Pacific Mountain Region.  

 
9 Stahre, Mandy, Juliet VanEenwyk, Paul Siegel, and Rashid Njai. “Housing Insecurity and the Association With Health 
Outcomes and Unhealthy Behaviors, Washington State, 2011.” Preventing Chronic Disease 12 (July 9, 2015): E109. 
https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd12.140511. 
10 Desmond, Matthew. “Unaffordable America: Poverty, Housing, and Eviction.” Fast Focus, no. 20–2015 (March 2015). 

https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd12.140511


City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

13 

5. Housing Inventory and Characteristics 
Today in Napavine, while there are some multifamily and duplex housing options, most housing has a 
single unit, as opposed to multiple units, such as with apartment buildings, (see Exhibit 15). This 
breakdown has remained relatively consistent over the 10-year period from 2010 to 2020, though the 
overall housing stock increased 6% in this timeframe. In 2020, 78% of housing units were single units, 
followed by mobile homes and other, accounting for 16% of units. Among all housing units, most have three 
or more bedrooms, as shown in Exhibit 16 below.   
 
It is important that a community’s housing supply provide a range of sizes and types to meet the changing 
needs of residents over their lives. For example, a family with children may prefer a larger house with more 
bedrooms when their children are young, but when their children grown and leave the house, they might 
prefer a smaller home or even an apartment that is easier to care for. Single-person households might also 
choose to have a smaller home or apartment. Likewise, residents of different income levels will be able to 
afford different types of housing, and it is, therefore important that several choices are available in an 
affordable range for all incomes.  
 

Exhibit 15  Housing Stock and Characteristics 

 
Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates (2010, 2020) 
 
 
 
 
 

448

8

27

8

8

79

479

14

19

5

98

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Single Units

Duplex Units

Multifamily (3-4 Units)

Multifamily (5-19 Units)

Multifamily (20+Units)

Mobile Homes and Other

2020 2010

6% increase in housing stock 
from 2010 to 2020



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

14 

Exhibit 16  Housing Stock by Number of Bedrooms 

 
    Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates (2010, 2020) 
 

5.1 Housing Tenure 
Nearly three-quarters of Napavine households own their home, while around 29% are renter households. 
The share of renter households is growing, though. Between 2010 and 2020 there was an increase in 12% 
in renter households (see Exhibit 17). This shift from ownership to rental could be a sign that young people 
becoming adults and wishing to stay in the community are unable to find affordable housing to purchase 
and are choosing instead to rentals. Alternatively, the shift to more households renting could also represent 
a shift in preference away from homeownership for the millennials now reaching adulthood (those aged 26-
41, see Exhibit 5). 
 
Though renter households can choose from any type of rental housing, multifamily units are most common 
rental units. This type of housing represents the smallest portion of housing in Napavine (see Exhibit 15), 
which could also create challenges for potential renters if home prices remain unattainable for would-be 
buyers. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1%

12%

68%

15%

4%

5%

10%

62%

20%

4%

1-bedroom

2-bedroom

3-bedroom

4-bedroom

5+ bedrooms

2020

2010



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

15 

Exhibit 17  Renter Versus Owner Households 

 
Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates (2010, 2020) 

 

5.2 Housing Production 
According to US Census Building Permits Survey Data, Napavine has permitted 10 units of housing per 
year on average since 2010. Of the housing units permitted from 2010 to 2021, 79% of these have been 
single units. Napavine’s housing production has remained lower for the large part compared to the 
neighboring cities of Chehalis and Centralia, as show in in Exhibit 18.The lower production is likely 
attributed to Napavine’s comparatively smaller size. However, whereas residential building permits in 
Centralia and Chehalis have declined recently, Napavine has saw an increase of nearly 200% between 
2000 and 2021. This trend suggests housing production may be on the rise.  
 

Exhibit 18  Residential Building Permits 

 
Source: US Census Building Permits Survey (2010-2021) 

17%

83%

29%

72%

Renter
Households

Owner
Households

2020

2010

12 percentage point 
increase in renter 
households from 2010 to 

0

10

20

30

40

50

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Centralia Chehalis Napavine

Since 2010, Napavine has permitted 
10 units per year on average



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

16 

 

5.3 Housing Costs 
On average, a home in Napavine is priced at $261,338 in 2020 according to ACS Estimates. The average 
home price for the bottom tier home—homes valued between the 5th and 35th percentiles—cost $229,559 
on average according to Zillow Estimates. 
 
According to the National Low Income Housing Coalition, the cost of a one-bedroom rental unit in Lewis 
County at Fair Market rent is $792. For a three-bedroom, the most common type of housing unit in 
Napavine, Fair Market Rent was listed at $1,292 (See Exhibit 19). 
 

Exhibit 19  2022 Fair Market Rents in Lewis County 
Bedrooms Fair Market Rent 

Studio $680 
One-bedroom $792 
Two-bedroom $1,023 

Three-bedroom $1,392 
Four-bedroom $1,623 

 Source: National Low Income Housing Coalition, Out of Reach (2022) 
 

5.4 Subsidized Housing and Group Homes  
Napavine only has one multifamily site that is subsidized. The building contains 40 rental assisted units. 
The subsidized units are funded through the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) and USDA Rural 
Multifamily Housing Program (Section 515). The LIHTC program expired in 2022—LIHTC provides credits 
to build housing if they provide affordable units for 15 years. The USDA Rural Housing Program, however, 
is still active according to PolicyMap data. The program targets populations below 80% Area Median 
Income (AMI), with some allowance for those making just above the low-income limit.11  
 
With the expiration of LIHTC at this property, the affordable units could be at risk of converting to market-
rate, leaving an insufficient supply of affordable units for lower incomes. While not all LIHTC properties 
convert rates to market-rate, the expiration could mean residents no longer being able to afford rents if they 
were converted.12   
 
According to 2020 American Community Survey Estimates, there are currently no group quarters in the 
City. 
 

 
11 The Housing Assistance Council, “USDA Rural Rental Housing Loans (Section 515),” April 2011, https://ruralhome.org/wp-
content/uploads/storage/documents/rd515rental.pdf. 
12 Brandon Duong, “What Can Be Done When LIHTC Affordability Restrictions Expire?,” Shelterforce, April 7, 2022, 
https://shelterforce.org/2022/04/07/what-can-be-done-when-lihtc-affordability-restrictions-expire/. 



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

17 

5.5 Displacement and Housing Insecurity 
While Napavine is outside localized mapping tools assessing displacement risk in Washington State, the 
Center for Disease Control (CDC) maintains an index to assess social vulnerability. The index is a tool to 
assess how vulnerable a community is to a natural disaster, economic shocks, or other such disruptive 
events. The index includes indicators such as poverty, lack of access to transportation, and household 
characteristics. The housing indicators includes the number of multi-unit structures, mobile homes, 
crowding, and group home data. The index assesses the census tract for Napavine as being “moderate to 
high” level of vulnerability (0.7, where values closer to one indicate higher vulnerability). Decisions on this 
heightened vulnerability during the next phase of policy making for housing for the Housing Action Plan. 
 
Additionally, as the region sees economic growth and as home values increase, Napavine could see 
increased economic displacement pressures on the City as the statewide housing shortage increases.13 In 
addition, a key, preliminary discussion point with the Housing Action Plan Stakeholder group is the lack of 
housing opportunities that young adults can afford. These trends could lead to displacement of younger 
adults—who grew up in Napavine—moving elsewhere for jobs and housing with increases in those from 
outside the City who can afford the houses moving into the City.  

 
13 Mike Kingsella and Leah MacArthur, “Housing Underproduction in the U.S.” (Up for Growth, 2022). 



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

18 

6. Gap Analysis 

6.1 Home Ownership Available by Affordability Level 
Based on the affordability analysis shown in Exhibit 20, homeownership remains unattainable for nearly 
half of the current population given home prices and income brackets. This estimate assumes the ability for 
a household to accumulate enough for a down payment. In the more conservative assumption scenario of a 
10% down payment, a prospective resident will still have to save half the median income to meet this 
threshold.  
 

Exhibit 20  Home Ownership Affordability 

 

Avg. home price Avg. home price, bottom tier 
20% down 10% down 20% down 10% down 

Sales price $261,338 $261,338 $229,559 $229,559 
Assumed down payment $52,268 $26,134 $45,912 $22,956 
Income needed to afford $60,513 $69,316 $53,155 $61,276 
Estimated percentage of population 
unable to afford  50% 50-71% 44% 50% 
Assumes 30-year mortgage, 5% interest rate, $5/$1,000 insurance rate, $960 annual PMI, and 1.3% property tax. Estimates 
are based on census income brackets, which may not closely match the income needed to afford threshold—estimates 
should therefore be used for policymaking discussion and not be considered precise point estimates.  
Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates (2020); Zillow Home Value Index 

 

6.2 Rental Units Available by Affordability Level 
For rental housing stock by family income bracket, households who make less than 30% of the Area 
Median Income (AMI) and those making greater than 80% AMI would find the smallest supply of rental 
units matching their income levels (see Exhibit 21). While households with incomes greater than 80% 
AMI—approximately $49,000—would likely begin to pursue homeownership options, if prices continue 
remain high, demand for rentals at this level will not be met by current supply. As a result, households at 
80% AMI may end up competing for units affordable to 50% - 80% AMI households or below. For those 
households making less than 30% AMI (less than $19,000 per year), the lack of rental options at this level 
could put pressure for these households to seek rental housing above their ability to pay, putting them at 
risk during economic and social disruptions.   

 

 

 

 

 



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

19 

Exhibit 21  Rental Units Available by Income Bracket 

Affordability Level 

Total Rental 
Units at 

Affordability Level 
Renter Households 

at Income Level Over / (Under) 
Less than 30% Area Median Family 
Income (HAMFI) 10 30 (20) 

30 – 50% HAMFI 25 20 5 
50 – 80% HAMFI 80 10 70 
Greater than 80% HAMFI 35 95 (60) 
Source: HUD CHAS (2015-2019) 
 

6.3 Alignment of Household Size to Housing Unit Sizes 
One- and two-person households accounted for half of Napavine’s households in 2020 (see Exhibit 22). 
However, one- and two-bedroom units only accounted for 15% of Napavine’s total housing stock. The 
majority of housing units, 62%, were three-bedroom units accounted for 62% of all housing units in 
Napavine in 2020. When accounting for units larger than three-bedrooms, an overwhelming 86% of 
housing units in Napavine had three or more units. However, households with three or more persons in 
them only accounted for 50% of households in Napavine.  
 
The gap between household size and unit size strongly indicates insufficient supply of smaller units for 
smaller households.  

Exhibit 22  Household Sizes Compared to Housing Unit Size 

 

 
Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates (2020). 

15%

35%

19%

31%

1-person household 2-person household 3-person household 4+ person household

5% 10%

62%

24%

1-bedroom 2-bedroom 3-bedroom 4+ bedrooms



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

20 

 

6.4 Projected Future Housing Demand  
Based on the most recent Comprehensive Plan population projections and existing housing production, 
housing production would need to increase to meet demand, as seen in Exhibit 23. If housing production 
continues at its historic pace from 2010 and 2020, an estimated 39 additional housing units will be added 
(historic trendline in Exhibit 23). Even under a high scenario, consistent with the rate of 29 building permits 
allowed in 2021, demand will still be greater than supply of units.  

Accommodating this many additional units requires careful planning to ensure that the right mix of unit 
types, sizes, and affordability can be provided, and that the City has the sufficient land and infrastructure 
capacity to meet the demands of this growing population. 

Exhibit 23  Projected Housing Unit Demand 

 
Historic trend scenario uses ACS estimates to project future demand. The intermediate scenario uses the 10-year average of 
building permits in Napavine. The high scenario uses the highest production rate of 29 units allowed in 2021, and projects that 
year-on-year. Uses a 4.4% vacancy rate, consistent with 2020.  
Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates; City of Napavine Comprehensive Plan (2017); Census Building Permits Survey (2010-2020).  
 

578
615 654

705

905

500

600

700

800

900

1000

1100

1200

2010 2020 2030

Ho
us

ing
 U

nit
s

Historic Trend of Housing Unit Supply Moderate Housing Unit Growth Scenario
High Housing Unit Growth Scenario

Housing Demand in 2030 = 1,165 units



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

21 

6.5 Land Capacity Analysis  
Napavine has an estimated 85 acres of buildable vacant, residentially zoned land.14 The 85 acres is land 
free of critical areas, such as wetlands and steep slopes, and considers infrastructure limitations. Assuming 
housing unit densities consistent with the existing densities in Napavine, these 85 acres would translate to 
439 units of housing (see Exhibit 24). This is 65 units short of meeting the expected demand for 504 
additional units by 2030.  

While the zoned land could accommodate more than the status quo scenario, achieving over 900 units at 
the maximum zoned capacity, this scenario is unlikely considering existing development patterns. 
Additionally, given the lack of sewer and water access in much of these lands, the status quo scenario with 
lower densities is more probable. Installing critical infrastructure increases the burden and cost for 
development (See Appendix B for the full map).  

 

Exhibit 24  Housing Land Capacity Analysis 
 City UGA 

Total 
  R2 R3 R2 R3 
Buildable vacant acres (minus critical areas) 117 16 1 6 141 
Market factor (25%) 29 4 0 2 35 
Infrastructure factor (15%) 18 2 0 1 21 
Total buildable acreage  70 10 1 4 85 
Potential Units – Status quo build-out 360 60 5 24 439 
Potential Units – Max zoned capacity build-out 611 241 8 96 956 
Assumptions: The status quo scenario takes a weighted average of the existing housing stock to determine achieved 
densities across the R2 and R3 zones, resulting in a R3 density of 6 units per acre and R2 density of 5 units per acre. 
The max build-out scenario assumes densities of 2 units per 10,000 sq. ft for the R2 zone and 25 units per acre for R3 
using the existing Napavine Zoning Code’s height and lot limits. Actual build-out will likely be lower densities. Sources: 
Lewis County Assessor Parcel Data (2022); Washington State Department of Natural Resources (2022; BHC 
Consultants.  

 
 

 
14 This analysis did not consider partially or underdeveloped parcels due to data limitations. County data lacks existing number of 
units per parcel. It only reports ranges of units—for example, a multi-family use with more than 4 units.  



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK. 



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A  
 

ADDITIONAL DATA TABLES 
  



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

 

Exhibit 25  Population changes by age 

Age 
Average Annual Growth 

(Persons) 
0 to 4 +4 
5 to 9 -7 

10 to 19 -9 
20 to 29 +10 
30 to 39 +5 
40 to 54 -6 
55 to 64 0 
65 to 74 -6 

> 75 +1 
Total -9 

Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates (2010, 2020) 
 

Exhibit 26  Low-Income Households 

HAMFI Bracket 

Renters Owners All Households 

Number %  Number %  Number %  
≤ 30%  30 19% 50 10% 80 12% 
>30% to ≤ 50%  20 13% 30 6% 50 8% 
>50% to ≤ 80%  10 6% 50 10% 60 9% 
>80% to ≤ 100%  35 23% 90 18% 125 19% 
>100%  60 39% 280 56% 340 52% 
Total 155 24% 500 76% 655 

 

Source: HUD CHAS (2015-2019) 
 

Exhibit 27  Cost-Burdened Households 
 Severely Cost Burdened 

(Housing cost burden 
greater than 50%) 

Cost Burdened 
(Housing cost burden 

greater than 30%) 

Total  
(Severely Cost 

Burdened and Cost 
Burdened) 

Number % Number % Number % 
≤ 30%  60 75% 60 75% 120 41% 

>30% to ≤ 50%  25 50% 35 70% 60 20% 
>50% to ≤ 80%  10 17% 35 58% 45 15% 
>80% to ≤ 100%  4 3% 44 35% 48 16% 

>100%  0 0% 20 6% 20 7% 
Total 99 15% 194 30% 293 

 

Source: HUD CHAS (2015-2019)  
 
 



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

 

 
Exhibit 28  Housing Tenure by Race 

 2010 2020 
Number %  Number %  

All Households Renter 93 17% 162 28% 
Owner 467 83% 407 72% 

White Households Renter 58 11% 148 29% 
Owner 448 89% 370 71% 

Black or African American 
Households 

Renter 8 100% 0 0% 
Owner 0 0% 0 0% 

American Indian and 
Alaska Native Households 

Renter 0 0% 0 0% 
Owner 11 100% 3 100% 

Asian Households Renter 0 0% 0 0% 
Owner 0 0% 0 0% 

Native Hawaiian and 
Other Pacific Islander 
Households 

Renter 0 0% 0 0% 

Owner 0 0% 0 0% 

Some Other Race 
Households 

Renter 11 80% 0 0% 
Owner 3 20% 13 100% 

Two or More Race 
Households 

Renter 16 76% 14 40% 
Owner 5 24% 21 60% 

Source: ACS 5-Year Estimates (2010, 2020) 

 
  



City of Napavine, WA 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Housing Needs Assessment 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B 
 

VACANT BUILDABLE LAND CAPACITY MAP 
  



3r
d

Av
eN

E

E Jefferson St

E CedarcrestSt

Oriole Dr

R
us

h 
R

d

State Route 508

2nd Pl N
W

E Washington St

Harold Dr

7t
h

A v
e

N
W

W Holly St

W
Washington St

Koontz Rd

Stad
ium

W
ay

W
in

d 
R

iv
er

 D
r

N
ew

au
ku

m
 G

ol
f D

r

Holloway Dr

Jo
hn

 R
d

Haywire Rd

W
ild

w o
od

Av
e

N E

2n
d

Av
e

NE

Parkside Loop

R
os

a 
C

t

Forest Napavine Rd E

1s
t A

ve
N

E

Stadium Ct

Al
de

r A
ve

SW

2n
d

Av
e

SE

C
am

de
nW

ay

Bi
rc

h
Av

e
SW

W Holly St

StMichelleAve

Fenway
Dr

Fenway Ct

8t
h

A
ve

N
W

W Vine St

Exit 72 SB O
n

Interstate 5 SB

M
eadow

Ln

E Melrose St

E Stella St

4t
h

Av
e

NE

W
as

hi
ng

to
n

Ct

E Park St

W Grand Blvd

Villageway Dr

E Newaukum St

Ki
rk

la
nd

 R
d

3r
d

A v
e

NW

1 s
tA

v e
NW

B
lanc

Ct

M
ap

le
Av

e
NW

W Branch Ct

3r
d

Av
eN

E

E
Fr

on
t A

ve

North Star Dr

W
Fr

on
t A

ve

Highway 603

Woodard Rd

W Branch St

Lo
nd

on
 L

n

H
an

na
h 

Ln

Al
de

rA
ve

NW

5th Ave
NE

RidgeViewDr NE

W Fir Ct

Newaukum Valley Rd

Birdie Ln

4t
h

A v
e

NW

EdmondsLn

Romerman Rd

Jackson Hwy

Fircrest R
d

To
rre

y L
n

C
hier i

Ct

Crystal Ridge Dr

E View St

Di
vo

tD
r

Mitchell Ln NE

2n
d

A
ve

NW

C
ap

or
al

e 
Ln

5t
h

A v
e

NW

6 t
h

A v
e

NW

Sk
in

ne
r R

d

Ta
yl

or
RdRose Marie Dr

Ne
wa

uk
um

VillageDr

M
itc

he
llp

oi
nt

 R
d

Stad
ium

Lo
op

Ta
yl

or
 R

d 
SInterstate 5

NB

Do Over Ln

LoneS
tarLn

Trevor Ln

G
ol

d m
y e

r D
r

Hamilton Rd

Sc
hr

ei
ne

r R
d

Sommerville Rd

Exit 72
SB

O
ff

Bond
Rd

Ke
l D

r

Exi t 72
NB

O
ff

Jean Rd

Vista Rd

Exit 71
SB

O
ff

Exit 71
NB

Off

Exit 72 NB
On

JacksonViewDr

M
ill

R d

Estep Rd

Exit 71
SB

On

Exit 71 NB On

Forest Napavine Rd W

Hamilton Rd N

Pier Rd

Hi
gh

wa
y 6

03

0 1,500750
Feet

GIS Data Source
Data sources supplied  may not reflect current or actual conditions. This map
is a geographic  representation based on information available.  It does not 
represent survey data.  No warranty is made concerning the accuracy, currency,
or completeness of data depicted on  this map.
BHC Consultants LLC., assumes no responsibility for the validity of any
information presented herein, nor any responsibility for the use or misuse of the data.

P:\Projects\Napavine, City of\2022 Housing Action Plan - Jackson Civil\03_Maps\maps\mxds\VacantResidential.mxd  11/10/2022  dknight

COPYRIGHT © 2022 BHC CONSULTANTS LLC., ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

# City of Napavine

Buildable Residential Land 
Capacity

November 2022

Legend
City Limits

uga

Water

Sewer Distribution

Water Distribution

Buildable Vacant Area

Residential Zones:
R2

R3

Buildable vacant areas were identified by selecting Lewis 
County Assessor parcels classified as vacant. Unbuildable, 
critical areas were subtracted from these parcel areas: steep 
slopes with grades greater than 35%, floodplains, and 
wetlands. Due to data limitations, this analysis does not 
include underutilized or redevelopable parcels.



3r
d

Av
eN

E

E Jefferson St

E CedarcrestSt

Oriole Dr

R
us

h 
R

d

State Route 508

2nd Pl N
W

E Washington St

Harold Dr

7t
h

A v
e

N
W

W Holly St

W
Washington St

Koontz Rd

Stad
ium

W
ay

W
in

d 
R

iv
er

 D
r

N
ew

au
ku

m
 G

ol
f D

r

Holloway Dr

Jo
hn

 R
d

Haywire Rd

W
ild

w o
od

Av
e

N E

2n
d

Av
e

NE

Parkside Loop

R
os

a 
C

t

Forest Napavine Rd E

1s
t A

ve
N

E

Stadium Ct

Al
de

r A
ve

SW

2n
d

Av
e

SE

C
am

de
nW

ay

Bi
rc

h
Av

e
SW

W Holly St

StMichelleAve

Fenway
Dr

Fenway Ct

8t
h

A
ve

N
W

W Vine St

Exit 72 SB O
n

Interstate 5 SB

M
eadow

Ln

E Melrose St

E Stella St

4t
h

Av
e

NE

W
as

hi
ng

to
n

Ct

E Park St

W Grand Blvd

Villageway Dr

E Newaukum St

Ki
rk

la
nd

 R
d

3r
d

A v
e

NW

1 s
tA

v e
NW

B
lanc

Ct

M
ap

le
Av

e
NW

W Branch Ct

3r
d

Av
eN

E

E
Fr

on
t A

ve

North Star Dr

W
Fr

on
t A

ve

Highway 603

Woodard Rd

W Branch St

Lo
nd

on
 L

n

H
an

na
h 

Ln

Al
de

rA
ve

NW

5th Ave
NE

RidgeViewDr NE

W Fir Ct

Newaukum Valley Rd

Birdie Ln

4t
h

A v
e

NW

EdmondsLn

Romerman Rd

Jackson Hwy

Fircrest R
d

To
rre

y L
n

C
hier i

Ct

Crystal Ridge Dr

E View St

Di
vo

tD
r

Mitchell Ln NE

2n
d

A
ve

NW

C
ap

or
al

e 
Ln

5t
h

A v
e

NW

6 t
h

A v
e

NW

Sk
in

ne
r R

d

Ta
yl

or
RdRose Marie Dr

Ne
wa

uk
um

VillageDr

M
itc

he
llp

oi
nt

 R
d

Stad
ium

Lo
op

Ta
yl

or
 R

d 
SInterstate 5

NB

Do Over Ln

LoneS
tarLn

Trevor Ln

G
ol

d m
y e

r D
r

Hamilton Rd

Sc
hr

ei
ne

r R
d

Sommerville Rd

Exit 72
SB

O
ff

Bond
Rd

Ke
l D

r

Exi t 72
NB

O
ff

Jean Rd

Vista Rd

Exit 71
SB

O
ff

Exit 71
NB

Off

Exit 72 NB
On

JacksonViewDr

M
ill

R d

Estep Rd

Exit 71
SB

On

Exit 71 NB On

Forest Napavine Rd W

Hamilton Rd N

Pier Rd

Hi
gh

wa
y 6

03

0 1,500750
Feet

GIS Data Source
Data sources supplied  may not reflect current or actual conditions. This map
is a geographic  representation based on information available.  It does not 
represent survey data.  No warranty is made concerning the accuracy, currency,
or completeness of data depicted on  this map.
BHC Consultants LLC., assumes no responsibility for the validity of any
information presented herein, nor any responsibility for the use or misuse of the data.

P:\Projects\Napavine, City of\2022 Housing Action Plan - Jackson Civil\03_Maps\maps\mxds\WetlandsHydric.mxd  11/10/2022  dknight

COPYRIGHT © 2022 BHC CONSULTANTS LLC., ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

# Wetlands & Hydric Soils
City of Napavine

Critical Areas

November 2022

Legend
Wetlands

Hydric Soil

City Limits

UGA

Water

Residential Zones:
R2

R3



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPE N DIX B  
 

SUMMAR Y O F C O MMUN ITY E N GAGE ME N T  



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPE N DIX C  
 

H O USIN G PO LIC Y FR AME WO R K  R E V IE W 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Napavine 
2022 Housing Action Plan 
Policy Framework Review 

January 2023 
 

Prepared by:  
 

 
BHC Consultants, LLC 

1601 Fifth Avenue, Suite 500 
Seattle, WA 98101 

(206) 505-3400 
www.bhcconsultants.com 



 
 

 

 



City of Napavine 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Policy Framework Review – DRAFT 
 

1 

CONTENTS 

1. Introduction .......................................................................................................................................... 1 
2. Comprehensive Plan ............................................................................................................................ 1 

2.1 Existing Plan Review ................................................................................................................. 1 
2.2 Policy Gaps and Barriers .......................................................................................................... 4 

3. Development and Zoning Regulations ................................................................................................. 4 
3.1 Gaps and Barriers in the Zoning and Development Code ......................................................... 6 

4. Countywide Policies ............................................................................................................................. 6 
4.1 Lewis Countywide Policies ........................................................................................................ 6 
4.2 Lewis County Five-Year Housing and Homeless Strategic Plan ............................................... 7 

5. Statewide Policies ................................................................................................................................ 8 
6. Programs and Actions Implementation Review.................................................................................... 9 
 
 

EXHIBITS 
Exhibit 1  Comprehensive Plan Policy Review .............................................................................................. 1 
Exhibit 2  Allowed Housing Types in Zoning Districts .................................................................................... 5 
Exhibit 3  Area and Land Distribution of Zoning Districts ............................................................................... 5 
Exhibit 3  Countywide Policy Review ............................................................................................................. 7 
Exhibit 4  Five-Year Housing and Homeless Strategic Plan Objectives ......................................................... 8 
Exhibit 5  Updated Housing Element Requirements Review ......................................................................... 8 
 
  



City of Napavine 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Policy Framework Review – DRAFT 
 

2 

GLOSSARY AND DEFINITIONS 

ADU  Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) 
HAP  Housing Action Plan 
Housing Element  A comprehensive plan policy element required by the Growth Management Act 

(RCW 36.70A.070).  
HNA  Housing Needs Assessment  
 



City of Napavine 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Policy Framework Review – DRAFT 
 

1 

1. Introduction 
The goal of this Housing Policy Framework review is to determine: 

• Does the current Comprehensive Plan support or hinder the City’s ability to meet the needs 
identified in the Housing Needs Assessment (HNA)? 

• How has the City progressed in meeting its current housing goals and objectives? 
• What opportunities have arisen since the comprehensive plan has been adopted? 
• What changes are needed to the comprehensive plan’s housing element to meet the community’s 

housing needs?  

2. Comprehensive Plan 
The comprehensive plan adopts goals and policies to guide the city’s growth and development, including 
those for housing in the Housing Element and for land use allocation and capacity in the Land Use 
Element. Ensuring that these comprehensive plan elements and other housing-related policies address the 
city’s housing needs is important. Otherwise, the city may not meet projected demands and provide 
housing to all incomes and demographics.  

2.1 Existing Plan Review 
Exhibit 1 provides an evaluation of Napavine’s adopted Comprehensive Plan Housing Element goals and 
policies. It also includes selected policies from the Land Use Element that relate to housing growth and 
development. The table shows how the goal or policy addresses a housing need identified in the HNA, as 
follows:  

• “No,” or red X – the policy fails to address housing needs. The policy should be revised or 
replaced.  

• “Somewhat,” or yellow dot – the policy addresses the housing needs to a certain extent but should 
be revised or expanded to increase its impact.  

• “Yes,” or green plus– the policy directly supports a gap identified in the HNA. However, the policy 
may still be improved or revised.  

 
Exhibit 1  Comprehensive Plan Policy Review 

Goal/ 
Policy Goal/ Policy text Does it address identified housing needs? 

Housing Element (pp. 53-54) 

Goal 

Provide sufficient housing for all income segments 
in order to meet the needs of a diverse population. 

 

Yes. The goal addresses the gaps 
identified in the HNA, which indicate 
needing diverse housing types for 
different income levels and households. 

Reduce the effects of urban sprawl by designating 
areas for high-density residential use. 

 

Yes. The goal addresses the need for 
increasing density wisely. Sprawl causes 
harmful effects, like the conversion of 
farm and forestlands to urban areas.  



City of Napavine 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Policy Framework Review – DRAFT 
 

2 

Goal/ 
Policy Goal/ Policy text Does it address identified housing needs? 

Provide housing areas consistent with the 
community’s existing character that offer sufficient 
open space for public use. 

 

Somewhat. Maintaining the existing 
character may fail to meet the changing 
housing needs of Napavine’s population. 
The HNA identified a gap between 
household sizes and the sizes of homes 
in the community. The vast majority of 
Napavine’s housing character is 3+ 
bedroom homes, which are unaffordable 
to many of Napavine’s existing residents. 
This goal does not allow for 
intergenerational housing opportunities 
for younger and elderly community 
members who may have different 
housing needs. Having housing types 
that are inconducive to all generations 
and income types increases the risk of 
displacement.  
Goals for open space and public use can 
still be accommodated in communities 
with a variety of housing types. 

Build a close knit community and housing area that 
is safe, free of drugs and crime. 

 

No. This policy does not add value to the 
comprehensive plan’s goals for providing 
housing for Napavine. While close-knit 
communities with low crime are 
important, these characteristics aren’t 
directly tied to housing type or policy.  

Policy 

Mobile/manufactured homes shall be considered 
single-family residences and shall be permitted to 
the same extent as single-family residences would 
be permitted to be constructed in all areas of the 
city as set forth in Section 17.84.010 of the City 
code. 

 

Yes. Mobile and manufactured homes 
can be an important part of providing 
diverse and affordable housing types in a 
community. 

Per City code section 17.82.030, child daycare 
providers (12 or fewer children per RCW 74.15.020) 
may be sited as a matter of right in all zoning 
districts provided that the application and review 
process set forth in Section 17.82.020 are met. 

 

N/A. This policy does not address 
housing needs specifically but impacts 
residential zones.  

Provide for a moderate rate of urban growth and 
development within the city limits. 

 

Somewhat. While planning for moderate 
rate of urban growth and development is 
important to meet the projected 
population and housing demand, the 
policy does not address how it will 
accommodate such growth. This needs 
more specifics. 

Provide for moderate growth in the expanded UGA. 
 

Somewhat. While planning for growth is 
important, it does not balance this growth 



City of Napavine 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Policy Framework Review – DRAFT 
 

3 

Goal/ 
Policy Goal/ Policy text Does it address identified housing needs? 

with the existence of the mapped critical 
areas in the UGA or availability of utilities 
and infrastructure.  

Plan for 401 new residential units over the next 
fifteen years. 

 

Somewhat. It is important to maintain 
housing growth consistent with 
population growth projections. However, 
based on updated census estimates, the 
planned 401 units in this policy fall short 
of demand by 124 units if the 
comprehensive plan population estimates 
are achieved. Napavine has permitted 90 
units since 2017.  

City development regulations shall provide housing 
areas and opportunities for all income segments. 

 

Yes. This goal aims to provide housing 
regardless of income level. Considering 
that a significant portion of Napavine’s 
population is cost burdened, as identified 
in the HNA, Napavine will have to 
continue to strive towards housing 
opportunities for all incomes. 

Single-family, multi-family and mobile home park 
areas will be identified to meet low income needs. 
Single-family housing units will primarily meet 
market value needs. 

 

Somewhat. While it is important to 
identify diverse housing types, market 
value housing is unattainable to those 
making median incomes, and not just 
unaffordable to those with lower incomes. 
Future policy must recognize that market 
rate single-family homes are unaffordable 
to much of Napavine’s residents.   

Support county-wide efforts to provide housing for 
all income segments. City development review will 
consider landscaping and beautification in all 
housing developments. 

 

Yes. Aligning policies and efforts with 
county-wide and regional efforts 
facilitates regional resilience to growth. 

City development review will consider residents’ 
safety in all projects requiring sidewalks and 
neighborhood parks. 

 
N/A. While an important policy for 
ensuring resident safety, it does not 
address housing needs specifically.  

Land Use Element (pp. 35-36) 

Policy 

The City shall designate twice the residential 
housing area needed, consistent with the housing 
goals of the 2006 Comprehensive Plan Update 
considering market factors, beautification and 
security concerns. Single-family, multi-family, 
attached single-family, and mobile home park areas 
shall be designated to meet the needs of persons of 
all income levels. 

 

Yes. Ensuring adequate space for 
residential growth and development is 
necessary to meet housing unit 
demands. However, this policy should be 
updated to reflect more recent housing 
needs analysis. 

The City shall designate up to 20% of available 
residential-use acreage for multi-family and  

Yes. Allowing assisted housing, low-
income housing, and group homes in all 



City of Napavine 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Policy Framework Review – DRAFT 
 

4 

Goal/ 
Policy Goal/ Policy text Does it address identified housing needs? 

attached single-family uses to ensure low income 
housing opportunities. Government assisted 
housing, group homes and foster care facilities shall 
be permitted in all residential areas consistent with 
city housing policies. 

residential zones fosters more 
responsive housing for Napavine 
residents, regardless of economic 
conditions. However, multi-family and 
attached single-family may not go far 
enough to meet all the gaps for low-
income housing given that these types 
could be priced at higher levels at market 
rates.  

The City development regulations shall provide for 
phasing of commercial, multi-family residential and 
industrial uses with increases in residential density. 
Floor-area ratios will be subject to the phased 
capacity increases of public facilities. Phased public 
facility improvements shall be provided prior to 
occupancy. Development fees, latecomer 
agreements, and/or bonding shall be permitted. 

 

Somewhat. It is important to ensure 
densities can be supplied by 
infrastructure. However, infrastructure 
limitations should not limit the city’s policy 
response to increases in housing unit 
demand.  

2.2 Policy Gaps and Barriers  
In addition to the policies reviewed in Exhibit 1, based on the Housing Needs Assessment, the following 
policies and goals are needed to address Napavine’s housing needs: 

• Adopt policies that encourage housing supportive of all generations and walks of life. 
Currently, Napavine’s lack of housing diversity hinders younger people from obtaining housing that 
meets their needs. The lack of diversity can also hinder the ability for older residents to age in 
place or afford taxes on a larger home.  

• Adopt policies that allow mixed uses as a way to encourage economic growth while 
providing more housing diversity. Mixed use development types can provide economic 
development opportunities on the same site as housing.  

• Add policies and incentives in the development code that incentivize below-market rate 
housing construction. The housing elements identify housing types for moderate to low incomes. 
However, outside of housing types and potential locations, the Comprehensive Plan does not 
identify policies encouraging programs, incentives, or targets to provide housing under market 
rates.  

• Add policies that directly address the need for housing type diversification. Prioritizing more 
diverse housing types and sizes ensure that different kinds of households have the ability to find 
the appropriate housing type for their needs. For example, as found in the Housing Needs 
Assessment, the majority of Napavine’s housing stock is larger homes with three or four bedrooms. 
However, this may not meet the needs of a senior household who wishes to downsize, or a young 
adult who may not be able to afford a larger home yet.    

3. Development and Zoning Regulations 
Development and zoning regulations impact the development process and the ability to build and maintain 
housing in a jurisdiction. Regulations can have a beneficial or a negative effect on housing patterns. In the 



City of Napavine 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Policy Framework Review – DRAFT 
 

5 

best cases, regulations can provide incentives and bonuses for providing housing the community needs. In 
worse scenarios, development regulations may make it too expensive to build housing a city needs or 
outright prohibit certain housing types regardless of market demands for it. In all cases, it is important for 
development and zoning regulations to be internally consistent, clear and easy to apply, and grounded in 
sound land use and housing policy. A well-written zoning code can facilitate quicker staff review times and 
speed up housing development.  
 
Overall, while Napavine’s Zoning Code allows flexibility for different housing types with 
minimalistic regulations, the zoning code text needs to be updated to remove conflicts and 
confusion. For example, the code has a chapter for a R-1 zone, but there is currently no R-1 zoned 
parcels. Chapter 17.12 references a zoning chart of regulations in conjunction with the zoning map, but it 
does not appear to exist. Policy action should include updates to the code to clarify existing development 
regulations, in addition to the recommended updates in this action plan to meet housing needs.  
 
Napavine currently allows a variety of housing types in its zones. While the code does provide development 
regulations for a district for low-density, single-family uses under R-1, there are no mapped parcels in this 
district in the adopted zoning map. Exhibit 2 shows the types of housing allowed in zones that allow 
residential uses.  
 

Exhibit 2  Allowed Housing Types in Zoning Districts 
P: Permitted 
CU: Conditional use 
Blank: Not permitted / 
Code silent 

R-2 
Multiple residential, low 

density 

R-3 
Multiple residential, 

high density 

C / C-1 
Commercial 

Single-Family P P  
Duplex P P  
Triplex  P  
Accessory Dwelling Unit 
(ADU) P P  

Multi-family Apartments  P P, as a PUD 
Senior / Retirement 
Housing  P  

Mobile / Manufactured 
Homes  P, as a PUD P, as a PUD 

Boarding Homes  CU CU CU 
Dormitories  P  

 
The R-2 zone accounts for nearly 24% of Napavine’s land, while R-3 accounts for 18% of Napavine’s total 
area. Commercial and Service zones make up the remainder of zoned land, as seen in Exhibit 3. 
 

Exhibit 3  Area and Land Distribution of Zoning Districts  
Zoning District Acres % of Total Napavine Area 

C/I – Commercial / Industrial 761 39% 



City of Napavine 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Policy Framework Review – DRAFT 
 

6 

R2 – Residential 2 460 23% 
C - Commercial 363 19% 
R3 – Residential 3 343 18% 
CS – Service 31 2% 
Total 1,959  

 

3.1 Gaps and Barriers in the Zoning and Development Code 
The HNA analysis identified the following gaps in the zoning code related to housing. These gaps and 
barriers have identified either as minor clerical “edits” for clarity or more significant “changes” to address 
substantive issues the code. 

• Edit. For both R-2 and R-3, density requirements would be more clearly presented through a table 
rather than as a code text. See NMC 17.20.050.A and 17.24.050.A. 

• Change. Modernize and consolidate code on development permits and procedures. Having a code 
that clearly states the required process from an application submittal to approval ensures 
predictability for potential applicants. Currently, procedures are integrated throughout the code, 
making it difficult to understand when certain approvals apply versus others.  

• Edit. Update and modernize the Planned Unit Development (PUD) code under NMC 17.44 to 
target and incentivize more diverse housing options. The update may examine opportunities for 
additional flexibility and deviations from code in return for housing supply and types that the city 
needs.  

• Change. Allow duplexes and ADUs on the same lot size required for single-family homes, 7,500 
square feet, rather than requiring a larger lot size for them. 10,000 square feet is required for two 
units on a lot currently. (NMC 17.20.050 and 17.25.050) 

• Change. Consider changing the minimum lot coverage (currently 50% of the lot area) to be a 
dwelling unit per acre standard. 50% of the lot would be a significant area, especially for large 
sized lots. This change would also allow greater flexibility and predictability for building housing.  

• Change. Minimum lot size standards under NMC 17.20.050 and 17.25.050 are confusing and 
difficult to interpret. Furthermore, the code requires large lots for housing types with multiple units, 
and greater barriers to their development.  

• Change. While the R-2 zone allows Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) per NMC 17.20.020, the 
requirements do not allow enough flexibility to be effective. The code currently requires that the 
second unit is one-half the primary unit. Capping the size at one-half the primary unit’s size limits 
feasible parcels.  

 

4. Countywide Policies 

4.1 Lewis Countywide Policies  
Lewis County establishes policies that should be integrated and aligned in all jurisdictions in the county, 
including Napavine. Exhibit 4 lists the countywide policies related to residential uses and housing. These 
policies have been added into Napavine’s existing Housing Element. However, Napavine needs to adopt 
additional policies in the comprehensive plan to effectively implement these countywide policies, as 



City of Napavine 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Policy Framework Review – DRAFT 
 

7 

indicated in the exhibit below. It is important for jurisdictions to ensure that the comprehensive plan’s 
policies not only adopt the countywide policies but implement them in a way that is effective for the 
community.  
 

Exhibit 4  Countywide Policy Review 
CWP 
No. Countywide policy text Is it implemented in Napavine’s Housing Policies? 

1.1 
Cities and towns and all urban growth areas shall 
include areas and residential densities sufficient to 
accommodate the majority of the County’s adopted 
20-year population projection 

 

Yes. Land Use Element policies on 
designating land for residential uses and 
densities relates to implementing this policy.  

1.2 

Land use planning for the urban growth areas should 
provide for urban densities of mixed uses where 
logical and existing and/ or planned urban services 
are available. Affordable housing policies and urban 
density policies should have equal value in evaluating 
and / or planning new or expanded housing areas. 

 

No. The Housing and Land Use elements do 
not provide any policies on mixed use 
developments.  

1.4 
Seek to ensure that development in the 
unincorporated Urban Growth Areas of cities 
conforms to applicable City development regulations.  

Somewhat. Napavine does provide housing 
and land use policies that address growth in 
the UGAs. However, these policies are not tied 
to the City’s development regulations.  

4.0 
Public Private Partnerships should be encouraged to 
build affordable housing to meet the housing needs of 
people with low and moderate incomes and special 
needs populations. 

 

No. Napavine currently has no Housing 
Element policies that encourage Private Public 
Partnerships.  

4.1 

Comprehensive Plan and development regulations 
should include innovative land use management and 
construction techniques to promote affordable 
housing. 

 

Somewhat. While Napavine provides a policy 
on mobile and manufactured homes, this is the 
only policy that harnesses the development 
regulations to incentivize affordable 
construction techniques.  

4.2 

The existing affordable housing stock should be 
maintained where economically viable and efforts to 
rehabilitate older and substandard housing, which are 
otherwise consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 
Policies, should be encouraged. 

 

No. Napavine’s policies address and delineate 
types of homes as affordable but does not 
provide any policies or goals on maintaining 
existing homes that are affordable.  

 

4.2 Lewis County Five-Year Housing and Homeless Strategic Plan 
Lewis County has a Five-Year Housing and Homeless Strategic Plan, adopted in 2019. In it, the County 
establishes the vision, “Every person in Lewis County has access to safe, affordable housing.” The plan’s 
goal is to “Maintain an emergency shelter and housing support system that effectively identifies and responds to 
persons at risk of, or experiencing homelessness.”  
 



City of Napavine 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Policy Framework Review – DRAFT 
 

8 

While the plan indicates that Lewis County Public Health and Social Services (LCPHSS) is responsible for 
implementing much of the strategies in the plan, it does provide an opportunity for creating partnerships 
and coordinate efforts to better meet the City’s housing needs. 
 

Exhibit 5  Five-Year Housing and Homeless Strategic Plan Objectives 
No. Objective 

1 
Quickly identify and engage all people experiencing homelessness under the state definition in Lewis 
County, and all unaccompanied youth under any federal definition, through outreach and coordination 
between every system that encounters people experiencing homelessness. 

2 Prioritize housing for people with the greatest need. 

3 Operate an effective and efficient homeless crisis response system that swiftly moves people into 
stable, permanent housing. 

4 Project the impact of the fully implemented local plan on the number of households housed and the 
number of households left unsheltered, assuming existing resources and state policies. 

5 Address racial disparities among people experiencing homelessness. 

 

5. Statewide Policies  
House Bill 1220 updated the requirements for Comprehensive Plan Housing Elements. Fulfilling many of 
these requirements will be informed by this Housing Action Plan. However, the Updated Housing Element 
will still require policies that address these requirements. provides a summary of the mandatory housing 
elements under RCW 36.70A.070(2) and actions needed in an update to Napavine’s Housing Element.  
 

Exhibit 6  Updated Housing Element Requirements Review 

Housing Element Requirement Summary (RCW 36.70A.070(2)) In Existing Housing Element? 

Inventory of existing and projected housing needs. Including: 
• Units for moderate, low, very low, and extremely low-income 

households 
• Emergency housing, emergency shelters, and permanent 

supportive housing 

 

Needs updating to including 
targeted approaches to 
moderate and low incomes 
and emergency housing. 

Includes a statement of goals, policies, objectives, and mandatory 
provisions for the preservation, improvement, and development of 
housing, including single-family residences, and within an urban growth 
area boundary, moderate density housing options including. 

 

Existing policies need to be 
updated to specifically address 
the updated requirement, 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=36.70a.070
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=36.70a.070


City of Napavine 
2022 Housing Action Plan 

Policy Framework Review – DRAFT 
 

9 

particularly middle housing 
types.  

Identify sufficient capacity of land for housing.  
Needs updating based on 
HAP findings. 

Makes adequate provisions for existing and projected needs of all 
economic segments of the community.  

Needs updating based on 
HAP findings. Particularly, the 
role of ADUs is missing from 
the policies. 

Identifies and implements policies and regulations to address and begin 
to undo racially disparate impacts, displacement, and exclusion in 
housing caused by local policies, plans, and actions.  

Currently missing from the 
Housing Element. Need to add 
based on findings in the HAP. 

Identifies areas that may be at higher risk of displacement from market 
forces that occur with changes to zoning development regulations and 
capital investments.  

Currently missing from the 
Housing Element. Need to add 
based on findings in the HAP. 

Establishes anti-displacement policies.  

Currently missing from the 
Housing Element. Need to add 
based on findings in the HAP. 

 
 

6. Programs and Actions Implementation Review  
 
Currently, Napavine does not have any City programs or policies that address housing supply or incentives 
to encourage affordability. Recommendations are made to address this gap in the Housing Action Plan. 
  



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



      
 

                 CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
                                                                                       Tuesday – May 23, 2023 – 6:00 PM  
                             

 
    Shawn O’Neill,

Mayor 
soneill@cityofnapavine.com  
 

Brian Watson, 
Council Position No.1 
bwatson@cityofnapavine.com  
 

Ivan Wiediger, 
Council Position No.2 
iwiediger@cityofnapavine.com  
 

Don Webster, 
Council Position No.3 
dwebster@cityofnapavine.com  
 

Heather Stewart, 
Council Position No.4 
hstewart@cityofnapavine.com 
 

Duane Crouse, 
Council Position No.5  
dcrouse@cityofnapavine.com 
 
 
Staff Members 
Rachelle Denham, 
City Clerk 
 

Michelle Whitten, 
City Treasurer 
 

Bryan Morris, 
PW Director 
Community Development 
 

John Brockmueller, 
Chief of Police 
 

Allen Unzelman 
Honorable Judge-Municipal Court 
 

Jim Buzzard, 
Legal Counsel 
 
 

City of Napavine 
407 Birch Ave SW 
P O Box 810 
Napavine, WA  98565 
360-262-3547 
 
City Website 
www.cityofnapavine.com 
 
 

**PUBLIC HEARING: HOUSING ACTION PLAN – 6:00 PM** 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER 
II.   INVOCATION 
III.   PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
IV.   ROLL CALL 
V.   APPROVAL OF AGENDA – AMENDED AS PRESENTED 

 
VI. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM THE REGULAR MEETING 

1) Regular Council Meeting Minutes– May 9, 2023 
 
 

VII. STAFF & COUNCIL REPORT 

                       
VIII. NEW BUSINESS 

1) Vouchers – M. Whitten 
2) TIB Updated Cost Estimate 2023 Lewis & Thurston Bundle Project – 

B. Morris 
3) AM 23-05 – Hire Full-time Admin Assistant PW/CD Dept – B. Morris 
4) AM 23-06 – Hire Full-time Police Officer – J. Brockmueller & J. 

Godbey 
5) AM 23-07 – Amphitheatre Deposit Waiver Funtime Festival – R. 

Denham 
 
 

 
 

          
IX. CITIZEN COMMENTS – NON-AGENDA ITEMS 

X. ADJOURNMENT – CLOSE OF MEETING 

 
Council Meeting is held in person and via Teleconference.  

         Teleconference Information 

         Dial-in number (US): (720) 740-9753 

             Access code: 8460198 

         To join the online meeting: https://join.freeconferencecall.com/rdenham8 

mailto:soneill@cityofnapavine.com
mailto:bwatson@cityofnapavine.com
mailto:iwiediger@cityofnapavine.com
mailto:dwebster@cityofnapavine.com
mailto:hstewart@cityofnapavine.com
mailto:dcrouse@cityofnapavine.com
http://www.cityofnapavine.com/
https://join.freeconferencecall.com/rdenham8


 

NAPAVINE CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
May 9, 2023, 6:00 P.M. 

Napavine City Hall, 407 Birch Ave SW, Napavine, WA 
 

 
 

 

 

CALL TO ORDER: 

Mayor Shawn O’Neill called the regular city council meeting to order at 6:00 pm.  

INVOCATION:  

The invocation was led by Bryan Morris. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  

Mayor Shawn O’Neill led the flag salute.  

ROLL CALL:   
Council members present: Shawn O’Neill Mayor, Brian Watson Councilor #1, Ivan Wiediger Councilor #2, Don 
Webster Councilor #3, and Duane Crouse Councilor #5.  

City staff members present: City Clerk - Rachelle Denham, Chief of Police – John Brockmueller, PW/CD Director - 
Bryan Morris, and Treasurer – Michelle Whitten. *ABSENT: Court Administrator - Lacie DeWitt is attending DMCMA 
Conference. 

MOVED: Duane Crouse Motion: Excuse Councilor Heather Stewart 
 SECONDED: Brian Watson 

Discussion: No Discussion 
VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried: 5 aye and 0 nay.                                        

 

CONSENT/APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

MOVED: Duane Crouse Motion: Approval of Agenda- As Presented 
 SECONDED: Ivan Wiediger 

Discussion: No Discussion 
VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried: 5 aye and 0 nay.                                        

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

MOVED: Brian Watson Motion: Approval of Minutes - Regular Council 
Meeting, on April 25, 2023 SECONDED: Ivan Wiediger 

Discussion: No Discussion 
VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried: 5 aye and 0 nay.                                        

 

STAFF & COUNCIL REPORTS:  

 
John Brockmueller – Chief of Police 

• Report in writing. Operations are normal. The police car will be here in May, hopefully. 
 
Bryan Morris - PW/CD Director   

• Report in writing. Light post 2nd & Rowell has been replaced / 2nd & Jefferson – End of June. 



2 
 

Lacie Dewitt – Court Administrator 
• Report in writing. 

 
Jim Buzzard – Legal Counsel 

• Operations are normal. 
 
Brian Watson – Councilor #1 

• On Saturday held the first Napavine Booster Club 5k, 61 participants. A huge thank you to the police 
department. It was a successful first year event. 

 
Shawn O’Neill - Mayor 

• Met with Mrs. Caviness 6th grade class to discuss local government. Super excited about working with the 
class for future visits.  

 
Deborah Graham – Planning Commission 

• Have been working on codes currently reviewing standards for RV Parks.  
 

Charley Hollinger – Napavine School Events 
• On May 11th there will be spring bingo for the Napavine High School cheer team, yearbook order deadline 

on May 31st $40, Kindergarten registrations are now, no school on May 12th & 29th, and Spring band 
concert on May 23rd at 7pm. Mayor O’Neill would like to have an archive of yearbooks.  
 

Dan Mahoney- Fire District 5 
• Staffed to max capacity per budget, three on per shift and the work schedule is three 48/96 shifts (2 on 4 

off), 1 medic around the clock as well and everything is going well.  
 

Funtime Festival  
• Nobody was in attendance to represent Funtime Festival. Rachelle gave an update due to attending the 

meeting on 5/4. Jerry needs volunteers, and they are looking for a princess coordinator.  
 

 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
VOUCHERS- M. WHITTEN  

 
 

MOVED: Don Webster Motion: Approval of the Vouchers dated May 
2023 1st Council Meeting SECONDED: Ivan Wiediger 

Discussion: No Discussion 
VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried; 5 aye and 0 nay. 

PROCLAMATION 23-01 POLICE WEEK – MAYOR O’NEILL 

MOVED: Ivan Wiediger Motion: Approve and sign Proclamation 23-01 
Police Week SECONDED: Don Webster 

Discussion: No Discussion 
VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried; 5 aye and 0 nay. 



3 
 

 

COALITION AGAINST BIG TRUCKS OPPOSITION LETTER – D. CROUSE & I. WIEDIGER 

MOVED: Don Webster Motion: Approve to have the mayor sign the 
opposition letters SECONDED: Brian Watson 

Discussion: Councilor Crouse and Councilor Wiediger both had a conversation with Josh 
Collins who is with Coalition Against Bigger Trucks (CABT) hoping to get support in 
opposing HR 471. This is an issue of the national legislation increasing truck size and 
weight on the roads. Josh Collins asked us to send a letter to our state representative’s 
expressing our concerns and opposition. It is a safety and road concern with bigger and 
heavier trucks on the roadways. Rush road alone is hard to maintain with the traffic 
flow and this would do more damage and cause additional safety concerns. Mayor 
O’Neill is okay with signing the letter but also feels it’s a little piece of a bigger problem 
down the road. Personal opinions sometimes roll into politics. Senator Ed Orcutt is big 
into trucking, personally has not got the support in the past from Mr. Orcutt or anyone 
else in his opinion. Councilor Don Webster feels this is a major safety concern and can 
cause issues for established truck stops because they are already set up for size and 
parking. Councilor Duane Crouse commented that he thinks it’s important to keep the 
personal opinions aside and do what is right for the citizens of Napavine.   

VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried; 5 aye and 0 nay. 

 

SET PUBLIC HEARING DATE WITH COUNCIL & PLANNING ON MAY 23, 2023 @ 6PM FOR HOUSING ACTION PLAN -
R. DENHAM & B. MORRIS 

MOVED: Duane Crouse Motion: Set Public Hearing jointly with Council 
& Planning on May 23, 2023 @ 6pm SECONDED: Don Webster 

Discussion: No Discussion 
VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried; 5 aye and 0 nay. 

 

MAYME SHADDOCK PARK KITCHEN 95% FINAL DESIGN – B. MORRIS 

MOVED: Don Webster  Motion: Approve 95% design and have mayor 
sign SECONDED: Ivan Wiediger 

Discussion: No Discussion 
VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried; 5 aye and 0 nay. 

 

DRAFT PERMITIING PROCESS CODE TITLE 15 – B. MORRIS 

MOVED: Duane Crouse Motion: Approve DRAFT permitting process 
Code Title 15 SECONDED: Don Webster 

Discussion: No Discussion 
VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried; 5 aye and 0 nay. 

 

 

 



4 
 

DRAFT WATER CONNECTION FEES REPLACING 13.02.040 DEVELOPER CONNECTION FEE/CAPACITY CHARGE 
PAYMENT – B. MORRIS 

MOVED: Ivan Wiediger Motion: Approve rough DRAFT Water 
Connection fees replacing 13.02.040 
Developer Connection Fee/Capacity Charge 
Payment 

SECONDED: Don Webster 

Discussion: Legal Counsel, Jim Buzzard stated that this was the first time seeing the rough 
draft. If the preliminary draft is approved, it will be sent to the office and reviewed by 
Marissa and himself and next time he is present then he will answer any questions at 
that time. 

VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried; 5 aye and 0 nay. 

 

CITIZEN COMMENTS – NON-AGENDA ITEMS:   

• Mayor Shawn O’Neill- gave kudos to all the staff and mentioned that he has two boxes of candy bars that 
he’s hoping to sell for the Boys Scout. Director Morris stated that he would buy both boxes of candy bars. 
He would like everyone to have one and that they’d be in the office to hand out for free. 

• Deborah Graham 295 Kirkland Rd. – Commented on the Truck Coalition Against Bigger Trucks opposition. 
She was in the trucking industry for years. DOT/State of WA collect money and they’ve done nothing to 
help with our roads. Are we giving the state attitude? Are we resistant to their actions and where is the 
money. Voice your opinions, it doesn’t hurt. Mayor O’Neill will get more information. Continued 
conversation took place. 

ADJOURNMENT:  

MOVED: Don Webster Motion: To Adjourn – Close of Meeting 
 SECONDED: Ivan Wiediger  

Discussion: Meeting Adjourned at 6:56 p.m. 
VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: 5-0 Motion Carried; 5 aye and 0 nay. 

These minutes are not verbatim.  If so desired, a recording of this meeting is available online from 
freeconferencecall.com or at the link https://fccdl.in/upXWrxBRIq  .  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
Rachelle Denham, City Clerk  Shawn O’Neill, Mayor      Councilor 

https://fccdl.in/upXWrxBRIq


Date

Home Carpet Warehouse Inc

2/1/2023

Office of Support Enforcement

5/17/2023

BHC Consultants

5/9/2023

Biometrics4ALL, Inc

5/16/2023

Capital Business Machines

5/9/2023

5/9/2023

City of Chehalis

5/16/2023

City of Napavine

5/19/2023

Department of Commerce

4/28/2023

Department of Ecology

5/3/2023

Emergency Vehicle Solutions LLC

5/18/2023

5/19/20231212 $5,600.93 Recommission of new PD Car

Reference Number: 38266 $6,389.33

1211 $788.40 Decommission 22 Dodge Charger

LN-000003265 $1,209.76 Water Quality Loan

Reference Number: 38265 $1,209.76

Reference Number: 38264 $56,561.01

PWTF-258400 $56,561.01 Rush Rd Force Main

2023*Apr Utility Tax $9,113.00 2023*April- Water Sewer Service Utility Tax

Reference Number: 38263 $9,113.00

Reference Number: 38262 $14,043.00

2023-May*RWWTP $14,043.00 2023 May Monthly Sewer Treatment Costs

INV151642 $113.07 2023- PD Court Copeis 4/1-4/30

Reference Number: 38261 $348.13

INV151641 $235.06 2023 Copies April 1-30

MNAPAL0001 $1,272.76 Software Upgrades PD

Reference Number: 38260 $1,272.76

Reference Number: 38259 $1,660.05

0017981 $1,660.05 2/25-4/21, 2023

Child Support - 14697 $228.00

Reference Number: 38258 $228.00

Reference Number: 38257 $10,017.16

87793 RH $10,017.16 1/2 carpet court room/city hall

Voucher Report May 23, 2023
2023 - May Council Date: 2023 - May - May 2023 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

May 23, 2023 May 2nd Council Meeting  City of Napavine - Voucher Report 1



Date

Voucher Report May 23, 2023
2023 - May Council Date: 2023 - May - May 2023 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

Flannery Publications

4/26/2023

5/3/2023

Grants Towing & Automotive Inc

5/5/2023

Jackson Civil Engineering LLC

5/9/2023

5/9/2023

5/9/2023

5/10/2023

5/10/2023

5/16/2023

Kinder Kreations

5/3/2023

Lakeside Industries

5/6/2023

LECO Supply, Inc

4/24/2023

Lewis County Auditor

5/17/2023

Lewis County PUD

4/28/2023

4/28/2023

104755010*2023-May $30.95 Hamilton Rd Sewer 3/20-4/18 2023

104755026*2023-May $35.44 koontz rd light 3/20-4/17 2023

Reference Number: 38274 $571.97

Reference Number: 38273 $38.00

23-4355-C1 $38.00 Release Lien Doc 3593410 Gans

210097 $125.25 Chlorine Well 6

Reference Number: 38272 $125.25

Reference Number: 38271 $249.94

230250 $249.94 EZ Street Asphalt Pot Hole Repairs

2171 $20.98 Customer Product embroider

Reference Number: 38270 $20.98

0016-24-03 $1,310.00 Rush Rd

0016-25.02 $3,100.00 Roadway Coring for grants

0016-19-03 $217.50 Development Pass-Through Fees AT&T

0016-20-04 $2,512.50 Development Pass-Through Fees Roglins

0016-11-15 $347.50 Development Pass-Through Fees Scotts

0016-14-07 $887.50 Development Pass-Through Fees TA

Reference Number: 38269 $8,375.00

Reference Number: 38268 $270.07

22063 $270.07 Towing PD Car

61577 $84.50 Pass Thru PH for TA

Reference Number: 38267 $234.00

61571 $149.50 Lewis Thurston TIB

May 23, 2023 May 2nd Council Meeting  City of Napavine - Voucher Report 2



Date

Voucher Report May 23, 2023
2023 - May Council Date: 2023 - May - May 2023 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

4/28/2023

4/28/2023

4/28/2023

Lewis County Sheriffs Office

5/3/2023

Lewis County Treasurer

5/16/2023

Mountain Mist

5/18/2023

2/27/2023

National Business Furniture

5/4/2023

PND Engineers, Inc.

5/18/2023

Quill Corporation

5/2/2023

State Treasurer's Office

5/16/2023

Transient Vendor

5/19/2023

Transient Vendor

5/19/20232023*May Help $603.32 4/26-5/17 Bradley help w/water sewer billing

Reference Number: 38283 $603.32

Reference Number: 38282 $400.00

00320 $400.00 16 shirts for LE Torch Run

2023*April Court Remit $1,154.93 2023*April Court Remit

Reference Number: 38281 $1,154.93

Reference Number: 38280 $134.94

32274425 $134.94 Copy Paper/1/3 Cut folders

2305192 $29,938.20 April 3-30, 2023 design of Mayme

Reference Number: 38279 $29,938.20

Reference Number: 38278 $13,495.86

MK592559 $13,495.86 Court Furniture

I005256811 $4.31 Water Cooler Rental

Reference Number: 38277 $27.97

005397909 $23.66 2-5 gal water jugs PD

2023*April Crime Victims $26.53 2023*-04 -  Court Remittance

Reference Number: 38276 $26.53

Reference Number: 38275 $413.41

2023*April Evidence $413.41 2023- April Evidence Handling

128578002*2023-May $31.98 Hamilton  Rd lights 3/20-4/18 2023

124227002*2023-May $434.83 Well #6  3/20-4/18 2023

128578001*2023-May $38.77 Rush Rd lights 3/20-4/18 2023

May 23, 2023 May 2nd Council Meeting  City of Napavine - Voucher Report 3



Date

Voucher Report May 23, 2023
2023 - May Council Date: 2023 - May - May 2023 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

Transient Vendor

5/16/2023

Transient Vendor

5/17/2023

US Bank Corp Payment Syst

4/12/2023

4/25/2023

4/28/2023

5/4/2023

5/4/2023

5/5/2023

4/11/2023

4/23/2023

4/24/2023

4/27/2023

4/24/2023

4/23/2023

5/16/2023

5/16/2023

4/28/2023

4/24/2023

4/23/2023

4/26/2023

5/3/2023

4/11/2023

4/25/2023

4/24/2023

4/12/2023

Safeway 4/24 $26.58 Court conf meal

Soft Touch 4/12 $12.45 Car Wash PD

NY Teriyake $18.60 Meals Treasurer

Rokkos 4/25 $22.03 Macomber Meals

Localmythpizza 4/26 $27.00 Court Conf  Meals

Michaels 5/3 $43.27 Shadowboxes PD

Laylas 4/24 $24.00 Court conf meal

Lobby Cafe/Th Olympia/FIre Artisan Pizza 2/23 $54.86 Macomber Meals

Free Conference 2023*05 $3.24 File Storage May 2023

Harbor Freight 4/28 $189.33 Fuel -returned on 5/15

El Capora 4/23 $21.00 Court conf meal

Evergreen Rural Water conf 2023 $300.00 2023 Fall Conf 

Dollar General 4/27 $22.56 lysol spray storage bags

Dominos 4/24 $26.00 Macomber Meals

Campbells 4/23 $327.21 Court Probation Conf

Crickets 4/24 $12.72 Macomber Meals

Amazon 113-7270458-7041865 $39.74 HDMI Cable

Campbells 4/11 $537.57 WMTA Conf 2023

Amazon 113-5268259-6616235 $10.76 clipboards

Amazon 113-5909492-6186635 $328.77 Heavy Duty Shredder

Amazon 112-8823052-7213862 $181.11 Rugs to protect carpet

Amazon 113-1760009-5884264 $754.55 Binders/ 2 monitors

Reference Number: 38286 $4,933.96

Amazon - 111-0528647-8809846 $178.87 Golf Balls

ACC 2915.0 Bull $926.09 Refund Overpayment 2915.0 Bull

Reference Number: 38285 $926.09

Reference Number: 38284 $95.63

2023*May Miles Court $95.63 2023 AOC Conference Vancouver WA

May 23, 2023 May 2nd Council Meeting  City of Napavine - Voucher Report 4



Date

Voucher Report May 23, 2023
2023 - May Council Date: 2023 - May - May 2023 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

4/24/2023

4/25/2023

4/7/2023

4/12/2023

4/26/2023

4/27/2023

4/12/2023

4/25/2023

4/6/2023

4/10/2023

4/17/2023

4/28/2023

4/10/2023

4/21/2023

5/1/2023

4/12/2023

4/27/2023

US Bank NA Cincinnati

5/16/2023

Vander Stoep, Blinks, Jones & Unzelman

5/9/2023

Vision Municipal Solution

4/30/2023

5/15/2023

WA Dept of Transportation

4/30/2023

Reference Number: 38290 $2,361.74

FB91458010231 $2,361.74 2023* April Fuel

09-12673 $13.30 CDPW Admin setup

Reference Number: 38289 $1,250.76

09-12602 $1,237.46 Utility Bills Feb/March

2023 May Hearing Examiner $1,010.00 Pass Thru Cingular Wireless

Reference Number: 38288 $1,010.00

Reference Number: 38287 $26.00

2023*April Bond Fees $26.00 2023 April -  Bond Fee

Zoom INV 199540593 $17.03 Court conf meal

WMCA 2023 Membership $100.00 WMCA DUES

WSNIA Training 2023 $495.00 Macomber training

Walmart 4/10 $63.60 Coffee Pot

Winlock Shell 4/21 $66.76 fuel PD

USPS 4/17 $8.13 Court Postage

USPS 4/28 $105.00 W/S postage diff for postcards

USPS 002552 $9.72 Certified WA ST Unemp

USPS 4/10 $41.85 Court Postage

The Davenport Hotel - WASPC Conf $744.72 Brockmueller WASPC Conf 2023

The Landing 4/25 $44.44 Court conf meal

Starbucks 4/26 $12.64 Court Conf  Meals

Starbucks 4/27 $12.37 Court Conf  Meals

Soft Touch 4/7 $12.45 Car Wash PD

Starbucks 4/12 $13.13 Meals Treasurer

Soft Touch 4/24 $12.45 Car Wash PD

Soft Touch 4/25 $12.45 Car Wash PD

May 23, 2023 May 2nd Council Meeting  City of Napavine - Voucher Report 5



Date

Voucher Report May 23, 2023
2023 - May Council Date: 2023 - May - May 2023 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

Watersurplus / Surplus Management, Inc

5/17/2023

Winlock Auto Supply

5/16/2023

5/16/2023

Staples Credit Plan

4/20/2023

4/21/2023

Dept of Treasury Internal Revenue Service

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

Medicare - 14697 (1) $38.48

Medicare - 14697 (2) $38.48

Medicare - 14696 (1) $86.63

Medicare - 14696 (2) $86.63

Federal Income Tax - 14709 $441.05

Federal Income Tax - 14710 $143.69

Federal Income Tax - 14707 $447.04

Federal Income Tax - 14708 $0.00

Federal Income Tax - 14705 $667.53

Federal Income Tax - 14706 $150.49

Federal Income Tax - 14703 $221.00

Federal Income Tax - 14704 $388.53

Federal Income Tax - 14701 $350.75

Federal Income Tax - 14702 $240.85

Federal Income Tax - 14699 $509.10

Federal Income Tax - 14700 $234.05

Federal Income Tax - 14697 $307.18

Federal Income Tax - 14698 $149.15

Reference Number: EFT*20230516 $6,930.07

Federal Income Tax - 14696 $1,019.60

9912004355 $103.55 jumpdrives/pens PD

Reference Number: EFT*20230515 $139.65

9911980048 $36.10 Address Labels for Blood

4847-361079 $79.68 2016 Ford F-150 Oil/filter

Reference Number: 38292 $325.04

4847-361078 $245.36 2016 Ford F350 oil change water pump

INV0004244 $6,885.81 Washed Gravel/Acid Washed Carbon

Reference Number: 38291 $6,885.81

May 23, 2023 May 2nd Council Meeting  City of Napavine - Voucher Report 6



Date

Voucher Report May 23, 2023
2023 - May Council Date: 2023 - May - May 2023 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

Social Security Tax - 14708 (1) $37.48

Social Security Tax - 14708 (2) $37.48

Social Security Tax - 14703 (1) $130.94

Social Security Tax - 14703 (2) $130.94

Medicare - 14710 (1) $39.10

Medicare - 14710 (2) $39.10

Medicare - 14709 (1) $49.83

Medicare - 14709 (2) $49.83

Medicare - 14708 (1) $8.76

Medicare - 14708 (2) $8.76

Medicare - 14707 (1) $46.97

Medicare - 14707 (2) $46.97

Medicare - 14706 (1) $39.83

Medicare - 14706 (2) $39.83

Medicare - 14705 (1) $63.03

Medicare - 14705 (2) $63.03

Medicare - 14704 (1) $42.39

Medicare - 14704 (2) $42.39

Medicare - 14703 (1) $30.62

Medicare - 14703 (2) $30.62

Medicare - 14702 (1) $40.99

Medicare - 14702 (2) $40.99

Medicare - 14701 (1) $39.18

Medicare - 14701 (2) $39.18

Medicare - 14700 (1) $39.83

Medicare - 14700 (2) $39.83

Medicare - 14699 (1) $65.34

Medicare - 14699 (2) $65.34

Medicare - 14698 (1) $30.63

Medicare - 14698 (2) $30.63

May 23, 2023 May 2nd Council Meeting  City of Napavine - Voucher Report 7



Date

Voucher Report May 23, 2023
2023 - May Council Date: 2023 - May - May 2023 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

Dept of Retirement Systems

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

DE Lage Landen Financial Services

5/6/202379756597 $463.54 2023 - 5/1-5/30 Sharp MX3071/MX307105

Reference Number: EFT*20230518 $463.54

Taxable Retirement  - 14709 $240.55

Taxable Retirement  - 14710 $171.51

Taxable Retirement  - 14706 $174.69

Taxable Retirement  - 14707 $273.77

Taxable Retirement  - 14704 $243.83

Taxable Retirement  - 14705 $276.46

Taxable Retirement  - 14701 $171.83

Taxable Retirement  - 14702 $179.78

Taxable Retirement  - 14699 $286.58

Taxable Retirement  - 14700 $174.69

Taxable Retirement  - 14697 $168.78

Taxable Retirement  - 14698 $134.36

Emp Rtmt - 14710 $280.19

Taxable Retirement  - 14696 $500.65

Emp Rtmt - 14707 $170.10

Emp Rtmt - 14709 $357.05

Emp Rtmt - 14705 $451.63

Emp Rtmt - 14706 $285.39

Emp Rtmt - 14702 $293.70

Emp Rtmt - 14704 $151.50

Emp Rtmt - 14700 $285.38

Emp Rtmt - 14701 $280.71

Emp Rtmt - 14698 $219.49

Emp Rtmt - 14699 $468.18

Emp Rtmt - 14696 $311.07

Emp Rtmt - 14697 $275.72

Reference Number: EFT*20230517 $6,827.59

May 23, 2023 May 2nd Council Meeting  City of Napavine - Voucher Report 8



Date

Voucher Report May 23, 2023
2023 - May Council Date: 2023 - May - May 2023 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

Dept of Revenue

5/19/2023

Payroll Vendor

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

5/17/2023

TOTAL

The following voucher/warrants/electronic payments are approved for payment:

Accounts Payable 89 34 174,509.60    38257/59-92

Payroll Vendors 1 1 228.00            38258

Electronic Payments 3 3 7,118.27         EFT*20230515,18-19

Electronic Payroll 2 2 13,757.66       EFT*20230516-17

ACH Direct Deposit 15 15 32,431.03       Direct Deposit 5/19/23

Total Vouchers 110 55 228,044.56$  

ACH Pay - 14710 $1,910.23

$228,044.56

ACH Pay - 14708 $545.48

ACH Pay - 14709 $2,281.58

ACH Pay - 14706 $1,759.55

ACH Pay - 14707 $2,285.07

ACH Pay - 14704 $2,120.27

ACH Pay - 14705 $2,945.25

ACH Pay - 14702 $2,246.95

ACH Pay - 14703 $1,708.07

ACH Pay - 14700 $1,942.82

ACH Pay - 14701 $2,078.19

ACH Pay - 14698 $1,636.28

ACH Pay - 14699 $3,232.68

ACH Pay - 14696 $4,050.51

ACH Pay - 14697 $1,688.10

Reference Number: May 1 - 15, 2023 $32,431.03

Reference Number: EFT*20230519 $6,515.08

2023*April Excise Tax Return $6,515.08 2023*April W/S Excise Tax

May 23, 2023 May 2nd Council Meeting  City of Napavine - Voucher Report 9



Date

Voucher Report May 23, 2023
2023 - May Council Date: 2023 - May - May 2023 2nd Council Meeting

Reference Amount Notes

WE, THE FOLLOWING SIGNEES, APPROVE THE VOUCHERS FOR PAYMENT:

MAYOR: __________________________________________________________

TREASURER: _________________________________________________

COUNCILOR #1: ___________________________________________________

COUNCILOR #2: ___________________________________________________

COUNCILOR #3: ___________________________________________________

COUNCILOR #4: ___________________________________________________

COUNCILOR #5: ___________________________________________________

Police Department - John Brockmueller_____________________________

Public Works/Community Development - Bryan Morris ________________

Court- Lacie Dewitt _______________________________________________

City Clerk - Rachelle Denham:_____________________________________

DATED THIS     DAY OF             ,2023

May 23, 2023 May 2nd Council Meeting  City of Napavine - Voucher Report 10



#[), "'rUrapndspaotrtea;iocnoxmstprEovsetr:menattBeoard
Form generateAdgoenn:y6 MaNy A20P23A vl  N E

TIB Project No 2-W-963(005)-1

Proiecf Name 2023 Lewis and Thurston Bundle - Multiple Locations

BID  OPENING
Submit  form  PRIOR  to award  of  contract

Current  TIB  Commitment

256,293

TOTAL  COST  ESTIMATE  AT  BID  OPENING

DESIGN  PHASE C O NSTRUC  TIO  N PH  ASE

Design  Engineering Right  of  Way
Construction

Engineering
Construction  Other I Contract Amount

4,780 o 7,188 o 322,777

Phase  Total 4,780 Phase  Total

Total  Project  CosJ

329,965

334,745

Include  a cost  breakdown  for  Construction  Other

DETERMINATION  OF ELIGIBLE  COST

Enter  the  current  estimated  totals  for  Landscaping  and  Other  Noneligible  Cost

Engineering

Over  30 Percent
10ther Noneligible  Cost ITotal Landscaping CostAllowable  Landscaping

Nonellgible

Landscaping
'Total Noneligible  Cost

o o o o o o

Total  Eligible  Project  Cost  334,745

Include  a cost  breakdown  of  Other  Noneligible  costs

Change  in Eligible  Total  Project  Cost  (Total Eligible Project Cost - Previous Phase Eligible Cost) 64,963

Calculated  Total  TIB funds  256,293

The  maximum  allowable  TIB  administrative  increase  can  not  exceed  $61,715

Requested  Change  61,715

Requested  Total  TIB funds  318,008

Enter  explanation  for  the change  in Total  Project  Cost  in the space  below

Page  1 of  3

Based on the cost information  shown above, the agency requests a TIB fund increase in the amount of $61,715



TIB LICE  Form  - Revised  March  2016

GeneratedbyTIBProjectTrackingSystem-  101439ChrisLanghoff05162023120850 Page  2 of  3



TIB Prolect Number 2-W-963(005)-1

Bid  Award  Updated  Cost  Estimate

FUNDING  PARTNER  PARTICIPATION

Update  Funding  Partner(s)  and  their  current  participation

Funding  Partners Previous  Commitment Current  Participation

TIB

NAPAVINE

256,293

13,489

318,008

16,737

WSDOT o

o

o

o

o

o

o

o

o

TOTALS i $269,782 $334,745

REQUIRED
ATT  ACHMENT8

> Submit  BID TABULATIONS  with  Updated  Cost  Estimate

> Submit  construction  consultant  agreement  with Updated  Cost  Estimate

> Include  a cost  breakdown  of Other  Noneligible  costs  in cell B24

k Enter  justification  for  COST  INCREASE  in cell B32

AGENCY  OFFICIAL

By my signature  below, I certify the costs shown are true and correct  and I am authorized  to financially  indebt the agency.

Shawn  O'Neill

Printed  or  Typed  Name

Mayor
Title Signature  & Date

5-;z3-;ay

REGISTERED  ENGINEER
I certify the bid tabulations  are accurate  and correct.

Printed  or  Typed  Name Signature  & Date

TIB UCE  Form  - Revised  March  2016

Generated  by TIB  Project  Tracking  System  - 4 01 439ChrisLanghoff051620231  20850 Page  3 of  3



 

City of Napavine 
Action Memorandum No. 23-05 

 
AM 23-05: Hire Full-time Administrative Assistant CD/PW   

 
Originator:  B. Morris   Agenda Date: 5/23/2023  

 

Route to: Department Head Signature Date 
X No Objections Mayor   
X No Objections Bryan Morris   
X No Objections City Clerk   

 

Review by Mayor Shawn O’Neill: ___________________________________________________________________________, 

Attachment(s): CD/PW Admin Assistant Duties 

                                 2023-2025 Wage Breakdown 

 

 

Fiscal Impact:  yes     no  

Summary statement: With the continuous growth and ever increasing Washington State 
mandates, the Community Development/Public Works department is in desperate need of 
additional assistance.  

Staff Recommendation:  

• Asking the council to approve a full-time Administrative Position in the CD/PW office.  
 

 

Approved  Denied  
Date Action Taken  
Attest:  

 



Community Development 
407 Birch Ave SW, P. O. Box 810 Napavine, WA 98565 

Phone: (360) 262-9344 Fax: (360) 262-9199 
www.cityofnapavine.com 

 

 
 
 

Administrative Assistant – PW/CD Department  
Job Duties 

 

Grants  

• Research for potential grants 

• A liaison between consultant (if any) and grant agency to ensure tasks and deadlines are met. 

• Compile documents that may be required for all grants. 

   

Projects – Any and all duties as assigned by CD/PW Director 

• Maintain a calendar of ALL CD/PW department projects to ensure deadlines are timely met. 

• Comprehensive Plan Update 

• Water System Plan Update 

• Led and Copper Line Project - (new requirement of Water System Plan) 

• Jefferson Pump Station  

• Rush Road Grant 

Other 

• Back Flow Reports - Implement and maintain new backflow system.  

• Small Works Roster – Maintain yearly roster.  

• Assist Executive Assistant with duties as assigned by CD/PW Director 

• Right of Way Permits – File/Scan/Maintain approved ROW Permits 

• Retention/Archive schedule for CD/PW departments.  

• Creating and maintaining digital file system.  

• Assist PW Director with yearly Water Reports (CCR. WFI.)  (CCR, WFI) 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



2023 Public Works Admin Assistant 2024 Public Works Admin Assistant

1 Month (May) @ $24 hr temp employee 5 Months (Jan-May) @ Step D full-time  employee
$4,224 $4,598

Wage $24 hr $4,224.00 Wage $22,990.00
Med/SS 7.65% $323.14 Def Comp 200 $1,000.00
L & I 1.24035 $218.30 Medical 980 $4,900.00

Retirement 10.39% $2,388.66
Total $4,765.44 Med 1.45% $333.36

L & I 1.3 $1,040.00
6 Months (June-Nov) @ Step C full-time  employee

$4,150 Total $32,652.02

Wage $24,900.00 7 Month (June-Dec) @ Step E full-time  employee
Def Comp 200 $1,200.00 $4,808
Medical 950 $4,750.00
Retirement 10.39% $2,587.11 Wage $33,656.00
Med 1.45% $361.05 Def Comp 200 $1,400.00
L & I 1.24035 $992.28 Medical 980 $6,860.00

Retirement 10.39% $3,496.86
Total $34,790.44 Med 1.45% $488.01

L & I 1.24035 $1,389.19
1 Month (Dec) @ Step D full-time  employee Community City 

$4,337 Total $47,290.06 Development Parks Streets Water Sewer
10% 10% 25% 27.50% 27.50%

Wage $4,337.00 TOTAL ARPA COSTS $79,942.08 $7,994.21 $7,994.21 $19,985.52 $21,984.07 $21,984.07
Def Comp 200 $200.00
Medical 950 $950.00
Retirement 10.39% $450.61 2025 Public Works Admin Assistant
Med 1.45% $62.89
L & I 1.24035 $198.46 12 Month @ Step E full-time  employee

$5,096
Total $6,198.96

Wage $61,152.00
TOTAL ARPA COSTS $45,754.83 Def Comp 200 $2,400.00

Medical 1000 $12,000.00
Retirement 10.39% $6,353.69
Med 1.45% $886.70
L & I 1.35 $2,808.00

Community City 
Total $85,600.40 Development Parks Streets Water Sewer

10% 10% 25% 27.50% 27.50%
TOTAL ARPA COSTS $85,600.40 $8,560.04 $8,560.04 $21,400.10 $23,540.11 $23,540.11







 

City of Napavine 
Action Memorandum No. 23-07 

 
AM 23-07: Amphitheatre Deposit Waiver-Funtime Festival  

 
Originator: R. Denham         Agenda Date: 5/23/23  

 

Route to: Department Head Signature Date 
X No Objections Mayor   
X No Objections City Clerk   

 

Review by Mayor Shawn O’Neill: ___________________________________________________________________________, 

 

Attachment(s): Amphitheatre Use Agreement 

 

Fiscal Impact:  yes    no  

Summary statement: The annual Napavine Funtime Festival is being held on July 15th and 16th, 
2023, and this marks the 50th year for this festival. Jerry Owens is having a challenging time finding 
people to volunteer. He expressed at the meeting held on May 4th, 2023, that if people don’t turn out 
that the festival will not be possible. He asked about the cost of the Amphitheatre, and he knows of 
some music entertainment that he could have come to the event but wouldn’t have the funds to rent 
it. The city code, 5.02.070 Exempt businesses state in paragraph E. Person, sales, or services arising 
out of Napavine Fun Time Festival within the city or any community event determined by the treasurer 
to be exempt from the requirements of this chapter.  I know the city is in support of this community 
event and hopes to see it thrive in the future. 

Staff Recommendation:  

• Asking the council to waive the $400 Amphitheatre deposit for the 2023 Funtime Festival.  

 

Approved  Denied  
Date Action Taken  
Attest:  

 



City Clerk’s Office 
407 Birch Ave SW, P. O. Box 810 Napavine, WA 

98565 Phone: (360) 262-3547 Fax: (360) 262-9199 
www.cityofnapavine.com

The City of Napavine is an equal opportunity employer and provider. 
Incorporated November 21, 1913 

Napavine Amphitheater Reservation Form 
207 W. Washington St. 

The Napavine Amphitheatre is publicly owned; therefore, exclusive use is prohibited. The 
Amphitheatre is handicap accessible and is adjacent to the Community Park which has day use 
picnic tables, there are no public utilities. Anyone using the Amphitheatre must leave it in as good 
or better condition than they found the area.  

Rules of the Amphitheatre: 
 No Bikes on The Grass
 No Skateboards, Except Within Skate Park
 Bike Riders Must Ride Slowly and Safely on Designated Paths
 No Overnight Camping
 No Alcoholic Beverages Without Special Permit with Liquor Control Board
 Dogs Must Be on A Leash and Cleaned Up After
 Smoking is Not Permitted
 All Garbage Must be Enclosed in a Plastic Bag, Tied and Placed in Garbage Can

Receptacles Provided by the City After Each Event
 Do Not Leave Fires Unattended

DEPOSIT: A refundable security deposit of $300.00, and a non-refundable fee of $100.00 is 
required for the use of the Amphitheatre for a special event.   
INSURANCE: Provider shall maintain Commercial General Liability, including blanket 
contractual and fire legal coverage for all its personnel and participants in a minimum amount of 
One Million and no/100ths Dollars ($1,000,000), and shall name the City as an additional insured 
on any policy so maintained. Proof of insurance shall be furnished to City upon the execution of 
this Agreement, and at such other times as City shall require. 

I/We,_______________________________________________, agree to the above conditions. 

Purpose of Use, Please Explain: _______________________________________________________ 

__________________________  _____________ ______ __________________________ 
How many expected to attend  Date(s) Needed Hours of Event 

Mailing Address: _______________________________________________________________ 

__________________________  __________________________  ___________________ 
Name of Group/Individual Signature of Responsible Party  Phone Number 
 

********************************************************** 
CITY OFFICIAL USE ONLY 

Park Approval:______________ Police Dept Approval________________         Date____________ 





PUBLIC WORKS & COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
407 Birch Ave SW, P. O. Box 810 Napavine, WA 98565 

Phone: (360) 262-9344 Fax: (360) 262-9199 
www.napavine.wa.gov 

  

The City of Napavine is an equal opportunity employer and provider. 
Incorporated November 21, 1913 

 

 
 
 
 

 
To: Mayor and City Council 
 
From: Bryan Morris, PW/CD Director        
 
RE: Staff Report for Council Meeting, May 23rd, 2023 
 
 
 
 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 

 Attached signed minutes 
 

 
 Project Updates 

 ARCO- Under construction 
 

 Scots Industries- Waiting on engineers fire flow 
 
 TA- waiting for hearing examiners decision on public hearing 

 
 AT&T Cell Tower- working with RCO for approval 

 
 Roglins-   reviewing phase one submittal 

 
 
 Mayme Shaddock Park 

 Waiting for complete submittal 
 
 
 
  Critical Areas ordinance:  waiting for ecologies approval 

 
 
 Shoreline:  Done, waiting for critical area’s approval from ecology 

 
 
  Rush Road:  awarded bid,  

 
  Jefferson Station:  working on design 

 
 Housing Action Plan:  waiting for public hearing 

 
 Began striping roads, operations are normal 

 
 
. 







The City of Napavine is an equal opportunity employer and provider. 
Incorporated November 21, 1913 

 
 

 

 
 
 
To: Mayor and City Council 

 

From: Lacie DeWitt, Court Administrator        

 

RE: Court Administrator’s Report for Council Meeting, May 23, 2023 

 

 Administrator’s Report: 

 

❖ Attended, graduated, and received a Certificate of Completion for the Inaugural 

Court Administrator Academy in Vancouver, WA.  I appreciate being given the 

opportunity to attend these valuable training/networking sessions.   

❖ Working with Desco AV to finish up the AOC AV Grant improvements for 

courtroom. 

❖ Otherwise, business as usual. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Municipal Court 
407 Birch Ave SW, P. O. Box 179 

Napavine, WA 98565 
Phone: (360) 262-9231 

Fax: (360) 262-9885 

www.cityofnapavine.com 

 

 
 
 


	Public Hearing Notice Housing Action Plan
	Public Hearing-DRAFT HAP 2023.04.28
	1. Plan Overview 
	Purpose                              
	City of Napavine Context
	Demographics and Housing Overview 
	Overview of Planning and Engagement Process
	Key Issues Identified During Public Engagement
	1. Accessory dwelling units (ADUs).
	2. Senior housing
	3. Children being able to stay in the community.

	Key Issues Identified in the Housing Needs Assessment
	1. Napavine’s housing supply is not keeping up with demand. 
	Exhibit 1  Projected Housing Unit Demand

	2. Nearly half of Napavine households, 45%, are cost burdened. This means they spend more than 30% of their income on housing costs. 
	3. Only 15% of housing units are one- or two-bedroom units, despite half of Napavine’s population being one- and two-person households. This indicates a lack of housing types for smaller households. 
	Exhibit 2  Household Sizes Compared to Housing Unit Size

	4. If new housing in vacant, buildable lands is developed at current housing densities, the City will see a shortfall of 65 units to meet the projected 2030 housing unit demand.

	Key Issues from the Policy Framework Review
	1. Existing Comprehensive Plan Policies do not target Napavine’s current and future housing needs. 
	2. Napavine’s development and zoning regulations are out-of-date and could be revised to increase predictability and flexibility, and to streamline housing growth. 
	3. Napavine’s does not currently have programs that address housing.


	2. Housing Strategies and Actions
	Strategy 1. Update development regulations to increase housing supply and diversity.
	Why implement this strategy? 
	Action 1.1. Make it easier to develop Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADUs) in R-2 Zone.
	Action 1.2. Update development regulations to reduce barriers to middle housing, particularly duplexes.
	Action 1.3. Streamline permit processes.
	Action 1.4. Review the Planned Unit Development (PUD) code and procedures to target housing diversity and provide more affordable housing options.

	Strategy 2. Update the Comprehensive Plan’s goals and policies to better reflect local and regional housing needs.
	Why implement this strategy? 
	Action 2.1. Establish policies to encourage and support ADUs.
	Action 2.2. Create a goal that encourages housing supply and variety.
	Action 2.3. Adopt policies that prioritize mitigating and addressing housing displacement and preserve existing affordable units.
	Action 2.4. Adopt policies to plan for housing that meets the needs of all income levels.
	Action 2.5 Increase land capacity for housing development by exploring changes to the UGA boundary to include properties with fewer environmental constraints and better access to utilities and infrastructure.
	Action 2.6 Consider policies that encourage mixed-use development types and residential designs that meet both housing needs and encourage economic development.

	Strategy 3. Establish fee structures and incentives that support affordable housing and increase housing supply and diversity.
	Why implement this strategy?
	Exhibit 3  Cost Burdened Households

	Action 3.1. Strategically invest in infrastructure upgrades to support more affordable housing.
	Action 3.2. Waive or reduce fees for housing that meets Napavine’s affordability needs.
	Action 3.3. Coordinate with the Lewis County Assessor to establish property tax abatements to incentivize upgrades to existing affordable homes.

	Strategy 4. Preserve existing homes affordable to Napavine residents and reduce displacement.
	Why implement this strategy?
	Action 4.1. Promote tax relief programs for qualified homeowners.
	Action 4.2. Partner with existing organizations to seed a Community Land Trust (CLT).
	Action 4.3. Preserve mobile and manufactured home parks and mitigate impacts when preservation is not possible.

	Strategy 5. Partner with regional organizations to design and implement housing programs to reduce cost burdens for Napavine.
	Why implement this strategy?
	Exhibit 4  Vicinity Map

	Action 5.1. Collaborate with local stakeholders and community organizations to identify and address barriers to housing that extend beyond housing policy and planning.
	Action 5.2. Coordinate with the cities of Chehalis and Centralia to ensure housing supply keeps up with employment and demands across the region.

	Evaluation of Strategies and Actions
	Exhibit 5  Evaluation of Strategies and Actions


	3. Implementation and Monitoring
	Exhibit 6  Implementation and Monitoring Plan Matrix

	Appendices
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C


	2023-05-23 Reg Agenda
	2023-05-09 Regular Meeting Minutes
	2023-05-23 Voucher Report
	TIB-UCE 2023 Lewis & Thurston Bundle
	AM 23-05 Hire Fulltime Admin Asst CD-PW Office
	CDPW Admin Assistant Duties 
	CDPW Admin Assistant Wage Breakdown 2023-2025
	Sheet1

	AM 23-06 Hire Fifth Officer
	Police Officer Wage Breakdown
	AM 23-07 Amphitheatre Deposit Waiver for Funtime Festival
	Amphitheatre Use Agreement
	Staff Report- Police Dept 5-23-23
	Staff Report -PW CD 5-23
	PC Minutes 05.01.23 Signed
	Staff Report - Court Administrator 05.23.2023


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


	IWe: 
	Purpose of Use Please Explain 1: 
	Purpose of Use Please Explain 2: 
	Dates Needed: 
	Hours of Event: 
	Mailing Address 1: 
	Mailing Address 2: 
	Phone Number: 
	Park Approval: 
	Police Dept Approval: 
	Date: 
	Signature1_es_:signer:signature: 


